

Concepts of Space, Refiguration of Spaces, and Comparative Research: Perspectives from Economic Geography and Regional Economics

Lech Suwala

Key words:

refiguration of spaces; concepts of space; topical space; economic geography; regional economics: comparative research; sociology of space; spatial analysis; internationalization of companies; world trade interdependencies

Abstract: Following the concept of refiguration of spaces proposed by KNOBLAUCH and LÖW (2017), in this article I emphasize interfaces for theory building, methods, and comparative research from an economic geography and regional economics perspective. Since the refiguration of spaces offers an abstract frame capable of grasping spatial relations of any order and across various scales, I will discuss the utilization of concepts of space in both subdisciplines by employing a textbook analysis. Moreover, I will include two examples of current economic phenomena where refiguration takes place. Namely, I will analyze the internationalization of companies and world trade interdependencies according to concepts of space, their implication on methods, and comparative research. In my findings, I show that the abstract frame of refiguration of spaces unlocks great potential if applied consistently. Economic geography has a great deal to offer for the micro-foundation in the refiguration of spaces, working with qualitative methods and forward-thinking concepts of space (e.g., relational or topical points of view for comparison). Regional economics allows for progress concerning the macro-foundation in the refiguration of spaces through the increased availability of regional or big data and advanced quantitative methods (e.g., manifold indexes capturing refiguration).

Table of Contents

- 1. Refiguration of Spaces and the Space-Economy Nexus
- 2. Concepts of Space in Economic Geography and Regional Economics
 - 2.1 Absolute space: Space as a physical container
 - 2.2 Relative space: Space as an economic location
 - 2.3 Relational space: Space as a social place
 - 2.4 Topical spaces: Space as a cultural landscape
- Spatial Concepts in Economic Geography and Regional Economics in Theory and Their Utilization in Conventional Textbooks
- 4. The Notion of a Refiguration of Spaces
- 5. Space-Economy Applications for the Refiguration of Spaces Across Different Scales
 - 5.1 The micro-economic perspective: The internationalization of companies
 - 5.2 Macro-economic perspective: World trade interdependencies
- 6. Summary and Conclusion

<u>Acknowledgments</u>

References

Author

Citation

1. Refiguration of Spaces and the Space-Economy Nexus

A fundamental question in spatial sciences is how to conceptualize spaces (MEUSBURGER, 2009). This is all the more true taking the recent call by KNOBLAUCH and LÖW (2017) into account that contemporary processes of intensified circulation involving human beings, things, and technologies have led to a fundamental shift in the understanding of space by means of mediatization, polycontexturalization, and translocalization. This shift can be roughly described by the basic assumption that "space which has been experienced as homogenous in early socialization [...] is increasingly becoming insular" (p.14). [1]

The resulting heterogeneity and therefore complex and multifaceted constitution and synthesis of spaces will be subsumed as the *refiguration of spaces*. My principal objective in this article is to review common conceptualizations of space in the subdisciplines centered around the space-economy nexus, namely, economic geography (the economic wing of geography) and regional economics (the spatial wing of economics), and to expose them to novel concepts of space by using stylized examples with corresponding implications on methodologies and comparative research. It must be noted that there is no consensus about designations and various labels for both subdisciplines and their research streams (e.g., economic geography as proper economic geography vs. regional economics as new economic geography or geographical economics) (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010; MARTIN & SUNLEY, 1996). In a similar vein, a different perspective on refiguration is conceivable as put forward by THRIFT and OLDS (1996), who broached the issue of "re-figuring 'the economic' in economic geography" (p.311), or in more detail by KUJATH and STEIN (2009), who addressed the refiguration of spaces within "knowledge societies" (p.369)¹. [2]

In this realm, general understandings of spaces should be investigated and reviewed:

- What are essential characteristics of spaces? Different perspectives and metaphors are conceivable, such as spaces as "containers," "batches," "networks," "fields," etc.
- *What is the nature of spaces*? Are spaces physical, cultural, social, political, or economic entities?
- Being rooted in economics, one may wonder *whether spaces are interchangeable, tangible, intangible, or memorable?*
- How do economic objects, subjects, or practices affect spaces, or do spaces even affect economic objects, subjects, or practices?
- Is it scientifically legitimate to relate economic objects, subjects, or practices to certain spaces (e.g., locations, regions)? Are spaces tied to economic objects, subjects, or practices (or vice versa)? Are they spatially fixed or mobile?
- Who or what assigns which meanings to spaces (cultural, social, economic)? [3]

¹ All translations from non-English manuscripts are mine.

These and other questions, as well as the corresponding concepts of space, have a decisive effect on the investigation of the spatiality of economies (AGNEW, 1993; CAPELLO, 2007; COUCLELIS, 1992; HARVEY, 1973; HELBRECHT, 2005; LATKA, 2003; SUWALA, 2014; WARDENGA, 2002). Against this backdrop and in line with this special issue, I will attempt to shed some light on concepts of space utilized in the subdisciplines of economic geography and regional economics in the second section of this article. In Sections 3 and 4, I will expose this contemporary utilization of concepts of space in both subdisciplines towards a pertinent textbook analysis and towards the refiguration of spaces framework that offer opportunities and limitations. In Section 5, I will present two stylized examples of "internationalization of companies" and "world trade interdependencies" by juxtaposing traditional conceptualizations of both phenomena and the added value of employing this new framework in order to comprehend the above-mentioned refiguration of spaces and the resulting, more heterogeneous constitution and synthesis of space. Additionally, I will describe implications for methodologies and comparative research. [4]

2. Concepts of Space in Economic Geography and Regional Economics

The origins of both economic geography and regional economics can be traced back to *Produktenkunde* [resource geography] or *wirtschaftliche Länderkunde* [regional geography] and the metric models created by VON THÜNEN, WEBER, CHRISTALLER and LÖSCH (location theory) for the German *Nationalökonomie* [political economy] (CHRISTALLER, 1933; LÖSCH, 1940; VON THÜNEN, 1826; WEBER, 1909). For a long time and at least until the 1970s, two concepts of space in particular were used in the newly forming subdisciplines at that time: namely, space as a physical container (absolute space) and space as an economic location (relative space) (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010; KULKE, 2004; Sections 2.1, 2.2). [5]

In recent years, the theoretical and methodological pluralism in economic geography and in regional economics has led to manifold perspectives on space (Sections 2.3, 2.4), which are no longer based solely on a classic spatial economic understanding of space (e.g., absolute space, location, or place) (CAPELLO, 2009; HASSINK & GONG, 2017; SCHAMP, 2007; SUWALA, 2014). Manifold mono-dimensional conceptualizations—such as political territories, environments, or areas (COE, KELLY & YEUNG, 2007)—and multi-dimensional conceptualizations of spaces (for an overview, see BLOTEVOGEL, 2005)-like societal space (ibid.), matrix space (LÄPPLE, 1991), spatial context (MEUSBURGER, 2009), the Japanese term ba [shared space for emerging] relationships] (BRINKHOFF, SUWALA & KULKE, 2015), and trispaces (PACHURA, 2021)—or the multi-spatial (management) framework (SUWALA, 2021; SUWALA & OINAS, 2012) not only enrich the disciplines, but also lead to arbitrary utilization and confusion at the same time. Since we are far from reaching an agreement with regard to the understanding and utilization of space in both disciplines, I would also like to provide several guidelines. The following

typology comprises four different understandings of space that lead to the contemporary diversity of theories and methods (Sections 2.1-2.4). [6]

2.1 Absolute space: Space as a physical container

Absolute space reflects conceptions of space introduced by PTOLEMY, COPERNICUS, KEPLER, GALILEI, or DESCARTES and is associated with the metaphor of the container (WEICHHART, 1998), where a decoupling between "space" and "physical objects" is conceivable (LÄPPLE, 1991). Space obtains an independent structure of existence (substance) beyond these "physical objects" and "is usually represented by a pre-existing, immovable and immutable grid amenable to standardized measurement and open to calculation" (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010, p.142). VON THÜNEN's "der isolierte Staat" [the isolated state] (1826) or WEBER's "Reine Theorie des Standorts" [pure theory of location] (1909) were expressions of this idealized grid as "an apparatus for observing economic forces, such as empty space for observing physical forces" (BRENTANO, 1867, p.14). Absolute space portrays an external delimitation of the research object (container), into which certain objects from the physical-material world (e.g., persons and things) can be inserted (MASSEY, 1999). Due to its independent ontological structure, absolute space is understood as the superordinate complex of objects but without comprising or explaining relationship patterns between these objects (in space) (SUWALA, 2014). [7]

Since *space can be separated from of these objects*, the idea of an "empty space/container" is imaginable. A frequently cited example is an "empty matchbox" that can be filled with objects (EINSTEIN, 1980, p.XVf.). This concept of space comprises the fixed cadaster of Euclidean geometry and most closely corresponds to the contemporary understanding of everyday spaces (BLOTEVOGEL, 2005). Following this concept, geographische Substanz [physical objects or geographical compounds] (LAUTENSACH, 1952, p.2) such as mountains, lakes, or agricultural products and raw materials can be documented and deposited into the container, expressing a strong believe in the physiognomically detectable geographical area of the earth's surface. Those involved in methodological debates concerned with this concept mostly circled around the collection of data and information about determining spatial entities (KULKE, 2004). Spatial categories are abstract patterns such as dots, points, lines, areas, or planes (COUCLELIS, 1992). [8]

This concept of space is widely used both in everyday understanding and abstract visualization of spaces in pure mathematical or idealized economic models in general, but also in both economic geography and regional economics as a starting point for investigation in particular. Concerning everyday understanding, the tradition of this concept of space rests on early ideas of economic geography about *Wirtschaftsraum* [economic space] (PREDÖHL, 1934), *Wirtschaftslandschaft* [economic landscape] (PFEIFER, 1928), and *Wirtschaftsformation* [economic formation] (WAIBEL, 1928) from the first half of the 20th century describing the complex structure of observable elements in an "objectifiable" economic landscape. Concerning the abstract visualization of

spaces in pure mathematical or idealized economic models in political economy and regional economics, the aforementioned VON THÜNEN's (1826) "Der isolierte Staat" or WEBER's (1909) "Reine Theorie des Standorts" were expressions of "abstract" spaces in *pure* and *universal* theories. These theories epitomize *universal principles* or *axioms with general validity* de facto detached from any kind of interfering influences. Not surprisingly, VON THÜNEN's theory has been also applied to various other contexts such urban land uses (e.g., ALONSO's general theory of land rent, 1960) or urban sprawl (e.g., SINCLAIR, 1967). In their purest form, they were "a wonderland of no spatial dimensions" (ISARD, 1956, pp.25-26) conceivable also without a spatial or economic allocation of meaning (Section 2.2). [9]

In regional economics, and particularly in Keynesian and neoclassical regional growth theory as well as new economic geography, great progress has been made since the second half of the 20th century in the realm of absolute spaces, also admitted in part by economic geographers (Section 3, textbook analysis). CAPELLO (2007, 2008, 2009, 2011, 2012) distinguished here between two types of absolute spaces, which she called:

- uniform-abstract space based on Keynesian and neoclassical regional growth theory (e.g., Keynesian regional growth theories, NORTH, 1955, or neoclassical regional growth theories, BORTS & STEIN, 1964) with constant returns;
- diversified-stylized space based on new economic geography (FUJITA, KRUGMAN & VENABLES, 1999; KRUGMAN, 1991) with increasing returns internal to the firm originating from ideas born within cumulative causation models (KALDOR, 1970; MYRDAL, 1957, increasing returns external to the firm) and endogenous growth models (LUCAS, 1988; ROMER, 1986). [10]

Uniform-abstract space comprises spaces where supply (e.g., factor endowment, sectoral and productive structure) and demand conditions (e.g., consumer preferences) are identical within a specific spatial entity/frame (e.g., region), disregarding any economic diversity (CAPELLO, 2007). In the tradition of *Wirtschaftslandschaft* [economic landscape], the observable geographical space is divided into spatial entities of restricted physical size—often matching administrative units for the sake of data availability—and it is assumed to be internally identical and therefore unifiable within a vector of aggregate socio-economic characteristics that can be used in macroeconomic models and theories (CAPELLO, 2008). In other words, the spatial frame—or more accurately, the scale, locale, region, nation—is a mental figure following an administrative, statistical, or other unit for which data are available. It is conceived as a point in space providing a rather abstract punctiform grid ready for calculation (i.e., absolute space) (SUWALA, 2021). [11]

Proponents of the concept of *diversified-stylized space*—for example, in endogenous growth models (LUCAS, 1988; ROMER, 1986) and new economic geography (FUJITA et al., 1999)—are contributing to advancements in the

abandonment of those identical conditions within the region. This applies in particular to the hypotheses of constant returns or perfect competition within a certain spatial entity/frame. The fact that (regional) growth is considered endogenous in these models (in other words, generated by abstract agglomeration economies, stylized in the form of "increasing returns") makes it possible to portray spatial and scalar entities such as regions providing the frame/container as diversified (SUWALA, 2014). At the end of the day, however, this concept of space has no territorial dimension either and is stylized into simple dots in space (CAPELLO, 2007). [12]

Despite substantial novel theoretical progress in the last decades, both subconceptions of absolute spaces (uniform-abstract space and diversified-stylized space) are *absent with regard to space per se* and *leave cause and effects to great economic forces*, except that those spaces are understood as superordinate entities, framing elements (scales), and containers depicting imagined regions. Therefore, the following call made by ISARD (1956) 65 years ago still holds true and revealed the great weakness, the *de facto a-spatiality*, of those model families and concepts of space:

"[M]arkets are assumed to be perfect, one price ruling throughout each of them. Or, otherwise expressed, [...] costs involved in movement within a 'market' are assumed to be zero. In this sense the factor of space is repudiated, everything within the economy is in effect compressed to a point, and all spatial resistance disappears" (p.26). [13]

CAPELLO (2007) affirmed this contemplation:

"[A]s a consequence, these approaches are deprived of the most interesting [...] interpretation of space as an additional resource for development and as a free-standing production factor. Predominant instead is a straightforward, somewhat banal, view of space as simply the physical/geographical container of development" (p.9). [14]

From a *methodological point of view*, the benefit of this concept of space can be derived by portraying the abstract, in other words, the point-based detection of a modeled and formalized *world filled with objects within a given frame*. Both options below are possible:

- an easily reproducible description of observable objects within this frame;
- elaborate methodologies and idealized assumptions that *facilitate* comparisons, representativity, and objectivity compatible with any kind of big data. [15]

It is possible to detect definite and unambiguous *causal links*, potentially leading to universal axioms. Working with this concept of space over the last few decades, I have seen considerable methodical progress achieved through advanced mathematical models, such as bifurcation (KRUGMAN, 1991), or tools,

such as spatial econometrics (ANSELIN, 1988; LeSAGE & PACE, 2009), together with the ongoing formalization of economic models. The great advantage is that we can apply this concept of space—in particular its *diversified-stylized type*— in both micro- and macro-economic models as per neoclassical tradition (KRUGMAN was awarded a Nobel prize for this achievement in 2008). Without an economic allocation of meaning, however, space is merely reduced to a gap, lacuna, or interstice between two dots or objects. [16]

2.2 Relative space: Space as an economic location

Relative space can "be understood as a relationship between objects which exists only because objects exist and relate to each other" (HARVEY, 1973, p.13) and is conceivable as a system of *"*Lagebeziehungen [relative positions] and Standorte [locations] of material objects from a particular problem-based perspective" (SUWALA, 2014, p.121). Relative space is concatenate with the views of NEWTON and EINSTEIN and non-Euclidean geometry (GÜNZEL, 2009). In this concept, *space* does not retain independence, but *arises from the structure of the relative position of objects to each other* (LATKA, 2003). This conception is able to *accentuate the importance of locations, relative positions,* and is able to portray *the formation of societal and/or economic realities.* There are "multiple geometries from which to choose, and the spatial frame depends critically on what is being relativized and by whom" (HARVEY, 2006, p.122). [17]

When using the concept of relative space, "space" only becomes an "economic location" when *the observer allocates a meaning to it*. Objects are no longer confined to the absolute space of a Euclidean coordinate system, but rather can be interpreted, depending on the research objective, as *locations on maps with different reference scales as a result of relative positions* (SUWALA, 2014). From an economic perspective, *overcoming distances* is of particular interest as a metric that can be quantified in terms of costs, time expenditure, or vicinity to sales markets, etc. (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010). These ideas are reflected in a series of classic models for single locational decisions made by particular companies (HOTELLING, 1929; LAUNHARDT, 1882; WEBER, 1909) or entire locational systems (CHRISTALLER, 1933; ISARD, 1956; LÖSCH, 1940; VON THÜNEN, 1826). [18]

However, it has to be clarified that these models portray abstract grids of absolute space in their purest form; only through an economic allocation of meaning do punctiforms become locations and obtain relative positions. They are able to provide information on the spatial distribution of economic activities and offer different types of comparison possibilities (on nominal, ordinal, and cardinal scales). *Spatial categories are demarcated territorial units* such as states, (administrative) regions, and cities or their quarters. [19]

Nowadays, in both economic geography and regional economics, space is mainly conceived as relative space (Section 3, textbook analysis). The principal focus is to assign *"space" the meaning of "economic location,"* regardless of whether space is included and rationalized as a resource, an independent production

factor, or an initiator of static and dynamic advantages for firms in various spatial models. In regional economics, CAPELLO (2007) differentiated *relative space* further between:

- "continuous, physical-metric space" (p.4), for example, the classical works of location theory mentioned above (CHRISTALLER, 1933; HOTELLING, 1929; LÖSCH, 1940; WEBER, 1909);
- "diversified-relational space" (CAPELLO, 2007, p.6) with territorial exogenous development theories, such as growth pole theory and sectoral and regional polarization (HIRSCHMANN, 1958; MYRDAL, 1957; PERROUX, 1955), and territorial endogenous development theories, such as industrial districts and innovative milieus (AYDALOT, 1986; MARSHALL, 1890). Please note that CAPELLO's expression of "diversified-relational space" is somewhat misleading here. In my opinion, territorial exogenous development theories utilize only relative space at best. In contrast, within territorial endogenous development theories, whether solely relative or genuine relational space—at least in the typology provided in this article—is involved really depends on the approach pursued and the actual method employed. Therefore, I would instead propose using the term "*diversified-relative space*" here (which will be elaborated in more detail in the following section). [20]

Continuous, physical-metric space can be defined in physical distance and whatever metric that can be quantified in terms of costs, time expenditure, or vicinity to sales markets to overcome this distance. In their purest form as mathematical or idealized economic models, these model families operate in absolute spaces; all forms of spatial friction/physical barriers employed to manage this distance can be unified to a distance between two points in space (CAPELLO, 2007). Once an economic meaning is attached applying a specific metric (transportation costs are used most commonly in classic location theory models), points or dots become economic locations. Points, dots, lines, or surfaces are assigned relative positions. They can be used to obtain information on the spatial distribution of economic activities, on maps as routes, streets, regions, or administrative units (SUWALA, 2014, 2021). Through this allocation of meaning, punctiform production (WEBER, 1909) or consumption markets (ALONSO, 1960; VON THÜNEN, 1826)—for example, dispersed dot sources of raw material supply (e.g., WEBER, 1909) or general demand (CHRISTALLER, 1933)—become *locations*. Therefore, the basic objective behind choosing an economic location is either to minimize costs-for example, (transport) cost minimization between raw material or production site and final market (WEBER, 1909)—or to maximize value—for example, profit maximization by optimizing the spatial distribution of economic activities (LÖSCH, 1940)—in the applied metric (predominantly costs/profits in economic terms). Therefore, it is about relative positions of locations and their "marginal utility relations" with regard to distance (SUWALA, 2021). [21]

Diversified-relative space allocates meaning to space "imagined as an economic resource, as an independent production factor [...] as generator of static and

dynamic advantages for firms, and a key determinant of a local production system's competitiveness" (CAPELLO, 2007, p.184). This

"positioning and mapping of the relative position of objects within an area results in certain locations with different objectifiable characteristics, or more precisely, location factors (e.g., low rents, fast and cost-effective city access, etc.)" (SUWALA, 2014, p.122). [22]

Understood as a generator of static and dynamic advantages for firms, space is imagined to take the form of different *types of agglomeration effects* (e.g., urbanization or localization (dis-)economies) and respective *centripetal forces* in favor of agglomeration or *centrifugal forces* against agglomeration (e.g., spread or backwash effects). These effects and forces are set in motion by initiating or detracting economic entities from locations leading to the attraction or repulsion of other businesses, skilled labor, and capital (HIRSCHMANN, 1958; MYRDAL, 1957). [23]

Physical-metric space and diversified-relative space are considered to allocate meaning to *spaces as economic locations*. However, this concept of space either reduces "*space*" to *physical barriers* (spatial frictions) by means of transportation costs (physical-metric space) or to *self-reinforcing mechanisms of agglomeration economies* (diversified-relative space). The unique distinction between the two concepts is that in diversified-relative space, researchers ascribe economic locations an endogenous role in forming concentration or dispersion processes as heterogeneous entities, while in physical-metric space, they conceptualize space as homogenous containers or black boxes. In both cases, relative space can be used to *portray the distribution of economic locations and certain material economic and social phenomena (e.g., working population) and relate them to each other* (BASCO & SUWALA, 2021). [24]

From a *methodological point of view*, the availability of statistical material for empirical work is a key variable here, since the relative positions (locations) relevant for research questions can be reconciled with the administrative or functional boundaries of spatial units (e.g., districts, federal states, labor market regions) (SUWALA, 2010). This is methodically achieved based on metric and scale-dependent coordinate systems leading to *cause-effect correlations using statistical methods* (MEUSBURGER, 2006) or *visualizations with the help of cartographic and other representation methods* (BENECKE, BRANOVIĆ & DRAUDE, 2008). Organizing structures of certain characteristic spaces (e.g., functional spaces of employment) can be identified and represented (LÄPPLE, 1991; SUWALA, 2010). [25]

However, according to this concept of space, *objects within their relative positions only have external relationships and no autonomous capacity to act* (SUWALA, 2021). Consequently, space cannot be constituted by a single object or location (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010). A serious danger that emanates from this understanding is the reduction of space to the mere relation between economic objects and the resulting *externalization of social, cultural, or political*

questions (SUWALA, 2014). Since relative space is imagined to take the form of different types of agglomeration (dis-)economies, it is ultimately about the construction of efficient and effective forms of either concentration (agglomeration economies) or dispersion (agglomeration dis-economies) while optimizing economic locations or locational systems (BASCO, STOUGH & SUWALA, 2021). [26]

2.3 Relational space: Space as a social place

Since the 1970s, the subdiscipline of economic geography has served as a gateway between various other disciplines and has adopted manifold theories and methods predominantly from the cultural sciences, sociology, and psychology, making it almost a *Gemischtwarenladen* [general store]. Probably, the most influential concept in this realm is "relational space":

"There is another sense in which space can be viewed as relative and I choose to call this relational space. It is space regarded in the manner of Leibniz, as being contained in objects in the sense that an object can be said to exist only insofar as it contains and represents within itself relationships to other objects" (HARVEY, 1973, p.13). [27]

Note that authors in both economic geography and regional economics, such as CAPELLO (2007), have sometimes used the concepts "relational spaces" and "relative space" as synonyms. This is, however, by far not the only conflicting terminology between economic geography and regional economics (for other issues, see GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010; MARTIN & SUNLEY, 1996; OVERMAN, 2004; SCOTT, 2006). In the following section, I will use the concept of "relational space" in the sense of most authors in economic geography, that is to say, according to HARVEY. [28]

Notwithstanding, CAPELLO's concept of *diversified-relational space* in general, and territorial endogenous development theories in particular-for example, territorial innovation models (MOULAERT & SEKIA, 2003) such as theories on industrial districts (BECATTINI, 1979; MARSHALL, 1890), innovative milieus (AYDALOT, 1986), or learning regions (LUNDVALL, 1992)—could be conceivable as both relative and relational space (depending on the method applied). Whether or not this conception can be called genuinely "relational" is questionable, despite descriptions "as being embedded in economic and social relations influenced by individual economic actors" (CAPELLO, 2011, p.11) clearly pointing toward a relational view. Capturing embeddedness and different types of proximities (e.g., cognitive proximity) in quantitative models, be it in economic geography or regional economics, with dichotomic variables (e.g., 0-1: cognitive proximity with [0] indicating no relation and no cognitive proximity and with [1] indicating a relation based on the fact that two actors attended the same university, for instance, or have a similar educational background, existing in cognitive proximity), might serve as a good approximation for "assumed and imagined relationality" at best but does not substitute a thorough social network and/or ethnographic analysis. [29]

The other model family within CAPELLO's diversified-relational space, which I call "diversified-relative space," includes, for example, models of territorial exogenous development theories, such as growth pole theory (HIRSCHMANN, 1958). These concepts of space work according to a mono-functional, atomistic, substantive conceptualization of relations based on a pre-programmed and largely passive idea of man (SUWALA, 2021). Hereby, man assumes the passive role of a reference point that has no influence on space, which is defined by relations between different objects that are related to each other (capital, persons, energy, data, etc.) (MELA, 2008). This understanding clearly points toward relative space. CAPELLO (2012) herself pointed out that, "by looking at the theoretical trajectories followed in regional economics, one of the major tendencies [...] in the field is the need for more realism in sometimes rather abstract conceptual approaches" (p.316). Despite prolonged accusations of being an a-spatial science (CAPELLO, 2011; ISARD, 1956), regional economics offers excellent conditions for comparative and analytical research, partly also with regard to "imagined relationality." In contrast, relational space, following HARVEY's (1973) definition, is the embodiment of all experienceable situational relationships in simultaneous coexistence between potential material and (immaterial) subjects (STEKELER-WEITHOFER, 1992). The actor is no longer just the reference point (object) observing space from a certain angle but an *active agent (subject)*, creating and influencing space first hand (GRAUMANN, 2002). [30]

The *focus on agency* makes it possible to internalize formerly external relations of a social, cultural, political, or economic nature, which were ignored in relative space (LÖW, 2001; WERLEN, 1987). The resulting dialectic recalls earlier works of sociologists who brought ideas about the duality of "structure" and "agency" (GIDDENS, 1984) or "habitus" and "field" (BOURDIEU, 1982 [1979]) in manifold social theories to the fore. This concept of space not only surpasses the rationalist economic agent, but also offers additional degrees of freedom in the actor's intentions. "Economic agency" is thus always "social agency" and does not happen between isolated agents, but rather is embedded in ongoing processes of social relations (GRANOVETTER, 1985). These social relations are characterized by different types of *embeddedness* and represent *interaction* between (active) agents. On this basis, it is possible to assess *trust, reciprocity, or power relationships* between agents (SELCUK & SUWALA, 2020). [31]

Hence, relational space was portrayed by contributors as the understanding of *space* as a *social place* or a *network of relationships*. The result is a social place that admits "the distinction between here and there, and it is what allows people to appreciate near and far" (GIERYN, 2000, p.464). Space as a social place is only born through the emergence, formation, and continuous maintenance of a relational network between active agents that allocate meanings to these relationships. *Spatial categories* for the relational understanding of space are *places, ties, or relationships* (SUWALA, 2014, 2021). [32]

Groundbreaking work on integrating relational space into economic geography was carried out by AMIN (1998), BATHELT and GLÜCKLER (2003, 2005, 2011), DICKEN and MALMBERG (2001), STORPER (1996, 1997), and YEUNG (1994,

2005a) and has greatly benefited from the resurgence of a Marshallian type of the aforementioned territorial endogenous development theories (industrial districts, innovative milieus, regional innovation systems). BATHELT and GLÜCKLER (2002, 2011) elegantly summarized *relational space* as *every relational (or social) place, tie (inter-relation), or action (or more precisely: interaction) that can now no longer be considered "objectively," that is to say, isolated from the actual relationships; instead, it is dependent on:*

- the particular context (contextuality);
- previous and expected incidents (path dependency);
- the specific situation (contingency). [33]

All economic action in these places always substantiate social action as well (HELBRECHT, 2005). Constitutive spatial elements of this relational structure can be expressed as *different forms of proximity* (for a discussion of different types of proximities, BOSCHMA, 2005; BRINKHOFF, SUWALA & KULKE, 2012; KNOBEN & OERLEMANS, 2006; TORRE & RALLET, 2005), which SUWALA (2014) referred to as proximity (dis-)economies. This understanding of space corresponds to the metaphor of a *network*—in the sense of a mono- or polycentric system (LATKA, 2003). The centrality of the network depends on the structure of the relationship between the actors and the actors themselves; while a monocentric network has a focal actor who has relationships with all other participants in the network, polycentric networks are characterized by a balanced structure of relationships between the actors (SUWALA, 2006). [34]

This understanding of space has two important *methodological consequences*:

- Methods and indicators of social or structural *network research* (JANSEN, 1999) have found their way into the research of the subdiscipline (GLÜCKLER, 2004; KRÄTKE, 2002; SUWALA, 2006), in which spatial economic agency is carried out and shaped by the formation of reticular structures.
- The actor-oriented perspective shifted the analytical framework predominantly to the *micro- or firm level* (VON FRIELING, 2006), and "*measurement becomes more and more problematic* the closer we move to a world of relational space-time" (HARVEY, 2006, p.124, my emphasis). [35]

All in all, it has to be emphasized that relational space only emerges as a social place through the formation and constant maintenance of a relational network between acting subjects (LATKA, 2003). In the course of time, external relations are internalized by actors and become subjects of study themselves (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010). *Interactions between the actors (as active subjects) thus constitute space* in the first stance and at the same time *allow actors to assign meaning to spaces as social places* (SUWALA, 2014). Since relational space is imagined to take the form of different types of proximity (dis-) economies, finally it is about the *construction of efficient and effective forms of either proximity or distance* while managing social places constituted by economic

relationships of active agents (SUWALA, 2014, 2021). This relational proximity or distance is, however, dynamic since it is bound to agents (IBERT, 2010; KUEBART & IBERT, 2019) and goes beyond just "being there" (GERTLER, 1995) to also "being aware" (GRABHER, MELCHIOR, SCHIEMER, SCHÜßLER & SYDOW, 2018). The mostly intentional awareness is key to the allocation of meaning when establishing these relationships (MERKEL & SUWALA, 2021). [36]

2.4 Topical spaces: Space as a cultural landscape

An interesting additional conception of space has arisen from the Japanese philosophy of NISHIDA (1999 [1926]) and found its way into management studies (NONAKA, 1991; NONAKA & KONNO, 1998) and into economic geography (BRINKHOFF et al., 2015; SUWALA, 2014, 2021). Parts of this understanding of space refer to fundamental behavioral features of Japanese society and its predominant organization into small groups, which constitute "protected spaces" (BRINKHOFF et al., 2015, p.14). In those spaces, individuals are indirectly bound to each other via space by means of *individual-space(-individual) relationships*, which LATKA (2003) named "topical relationships" or "topo-centric relationships" (p.228) and which differ from relational (individual–individual) or poly-centric relationships (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Polycentric relations (left) and topo-centric relations (right) (my elaboration, based on BRINKHOFF et al., 2015, p.14, and LATKA, 2003, p.242) [37]

Although similar to relational space, the spatial metaphor changes from a network to a "*field*" (Figure 1). The field results from the *intersection of a topo-centric network* and can be visualized as an *area or cover traversed by an umbrella* (LATKA, 2003). The field can also be defined as an *atmospherically experienced and sensed environment* (PFISTER, 2007). The field metaphor of space is intended to emphasize that actors both construct space and are accessed through space at the same time, whereby the connecting element is the penetrating element. In contrast to the relational concept of space, for instance, *agents are not only spatially embedded (through interactions), but are also spatially penetrated*. Here, images of oscillations and magnetic or gravitational fields become obvious, which penetrate space nodes (agents) of the field and set them in consonance. Thus, ontologically, *space (i.e., the geographical substance) itself also obtains agency* (LATKA, 2003; PFISTER, 2007; SUWALA, 2014). As

one of the few Western intellectuals, BOURDIEU (1982 [1979]) drew attention to this difference between relational and topic spaces, expressing it as follows:

"Thinking in field terms requires a reversal of the entire everyday vision of the social world, a vision interested only in those things which are visible [...] In fact, just as Newton's theory of gravity could only be developed in break with Cartesian realism, which recognized no other mode of physical action than the impact, the direct contact, in the same way the concept of the field presupposes a break with the realistic notion, which reduces the effect of the milieu to that of the direct action taking place in an interaction" (p.41). [38]

Topical space is individually perceptible space that is culturally shaped by geographical substance based on the cognitions, ways of thinking, and views of life (in short: experiences) of individuals or groups of individuals (SUWALA, 2014). In this way, space is allotted a cultural meaning through personal and group experiences via space (LATKA, 2003; PFEUFER & SUWALA, 2020; PFISTER, 2007). [39]

The result are spaces that are denominated *cultural-cognitive landscapes*. These landscapes are, however, neither landscapes in the classical sense of *Wirtschaftslandschaft* [economic landscape] (PFEIFER, 1928) nor in the conventional sense comprising objectifiable "visible features of an area including its physical elements, living elements and human elements such as human activity and the built-up environment" (GREFFE, 2010, p.2). Rather, they are mental cultural landscapes, consisting of strong subjective emotions or normatively imposed images of the geographical substance (e.g., certain arrangements of the build fabric, regions, cities) of individuals (HELBRECHT, 2005). All in all, this type of "landscape is a cultural image, a pictorial way of representing, structuring or symbolising surroundings" (DANIELS & COSGROVE, 1988, p.1). Topical space transforms space into culturally determined landscapes by means of perception, interpretation, remembrance, or appropriation (GRAUMANN, 2002; LÖW, 2001; MEUSBURGER, 2009). For instance, the *Aneignung des Raumes* [appropriation of space] unfolds

"by marking, naming, defining, categorizing, and evaluating space as appropriate or inappropriate, owned or free, by signs, words, rules, regulations, and laws; but also by regular locomotion resulting in paths [...] by building, constructing, and setting; but also by the artistic and scientific representation of space; and finally by overcoming of distance by developing means of communication" (GRAUMANN, 2002, p.104). [40]

Integrating insights from psychology and cultural studies is still somehow a bottom line in both regional economics and economic geography—as social issues like embeddedness within economic agency were bottom lines almost three decades ago (GRABHER, 1993). Despite a "cultural turn" in economic geography (BARNES, 2001; JAMES, MARTIN & SUNLEY, 2007; THRIFT & OLDS, 1996) and manifold novel metaphors or topological propositions representing space—for example, FOUCAULT's "bounded regions" (1966), LATOUR's "networks" (1996), DELEUZE's "flows" (1971), BOHM's "dual locality"

(1980) (BARNES, 2001, p.561)—pointed toward a "polycentric" economic geography that emphasized a qualitative multiplicity of economic spaces (THRIFT & OLDS, 1996, p.313), the subdiscipline somehow became "lost in translation" (BARNES, 2006). Moreover, the "manifold interactions, translations, performances and mediations between human and non- human actors through which economic networks are (re)constructed" (JAMES et al., 2007, p.12) mostly referred to an "ego-based network metaphor" of spaces with an understanding grounded in practices based on relationality or actor-based theory (BARNES, 2002; FLEW, 2010). Actor-based theory is also underlined by the term "closeness' between economic actors [which] means much more than simply spatial proximity, but must also be defined culturally, in terms of common language, modes of communication, customs, conventions, social norms and trust" (JAMES et al., 2007, p.13). [41]

Interestingly, the idea or the metaphor of the field dates back to MARSHALL's original (1890) notions of "something in the air," or to put it precisely: "When an industry has thus chosen a locality for itself, it is likely to stay there long [...]. The mysteries of the trade become no mysteries; but are as it were in the air, and children learn many of them unconsciously" (p.198). Later "something in the air" was replaced with "atmosphere," a broader term (BELUSSI & CALDARI, 2009, p.337), that expressed advantages derived from an "industrial atmosphere" in which firms are immersed, leading to "more vitality than might have seemed probable in view of the incessant change of techniques" (MARSHALL, 1919, p.287). In a modern interpretation, "industrial atmosphere" was the main ingredient for the so-called creative or innovative "milieu" (BECATTINI, 1979) as underlined by the territorial innovation model family (MOULAERT & SEKIA, 2003). In order to capture and express these "invisible forces" of fields, regional economists and economic geographers introduced manifold concepts as "untraded interdependencies" (STORPER, 1995), "being there" (GERTLER, 1995), "institutional thickness" (HENRY & PINCH, 2001, p.1170), or "surrounding noise" (GRABHER, 2004, p.116), among many others. Although this selfreinforcing mechanism might also be highly applicable to relational concepts of space, the rise of culture and creative industries has led to a renaissance of cognitive, semiotic, and symbolic attributes within spaces (SUWALA, 2014). [42]

In this realm, SCOTT (2001) talked about an "urban landscape" (p.17) as a cultural creative field consisting of a "system of cues and resources providing material for imaginative appropriation by individuals and groups as they pursue the business of work and life in urban space" (SCOTT, 2010, p.121) or dealing as a "stockpile of knowledge, traditions, memories and images" (SCOTT, 2006, p.13). This representation of space embodied a constructed, appropriated, perceived, or experienced environment or a landscape full of traditions, images, or memories in line with a topical understanding of space. Culturally creative individuals have the same effect on these landscapes as culturally creative landscapes have on individuals. These "landscapes" contain certain experiences or landscape-based experiences through mental allocations of meaning (PFEUFER & SUWALA, 2020) and arise from the interplay of symbolic perceptions of physical-material elements (climate, morphology, architectural

features of entire quarters or cities) and socially experienceable spaces full of "cultural amenities (museums, art galleries, theaters, shopping and entertainment facilities) and adjacent industrial/commercial buildings" (SCOTT, 2010, p.124). [43]

In regional economics, (cultural) amenities such as the variety of consumer goods, aesthetics, physical settings, freedom to move, and access to public goods are far from new (ULLMAN, 1954) and have also found their way back into formalized equations when explaining the success of pertinent (urban) spaces (FLORIDA, MELLANDER & STOLARICK, 2011; GLAESER, KOLKO & SAIZ, 2001). A pure amenity was understood as a "non-produced public good such as weather quality that has no explicit price" (GYOURKO & TRACY, 1991, p.775). In contrast to economic geography, amenities acquire objectified properties of spaces, for example, measured according to January temperature or precipitation —later linked to aggregated (consumer) preferences. Some called them "non-market interactions" (e.g., happiness, climate) (FLORIDA, MELLANDER & RENTFROW, 2013; GLAESER, 2000). All of this builds on the basic assumption of (neo-)classic theory that people maximize utility, not income, and that utility equals income plus amenities (CLARK, LLOYD, WONG & JAIN, 2002). [44]

Although there are emerging approaches toward a culture-based (or experiencebased) understanding of spaces (KUJATH & STEIN, 2009) or an integration of personal traits of entrepreneurs into regional cultures (BELLGARDT, SUWALA & KULKE, 2021; FRITSCH, OBSCHONKA & WYRWICH, 2019), there is no coherent and crucial body of work in both subdisciplines that emphasizes topical spaces. Despite recent developments, most researchers use rather conventional methodologies (e.g., cultural determinants), relational imperatives (e.g., cultural practices and individual-individual-social relations), and/or the availability of regional data sets to portray those findings rather than dealing with the nature of such an understanding of space. While being a very interesting approach, only a few methodologies (in part from phenomenology, psychology, and philosophy) have been reassimilated into regional economics or economic geography (BARNES, 2002; BRINKHOFF et al., 2015; GLAESER, 2004; HUGGINS & THOMPSON, 2019). [45]

This fact is even more interesting since early influence from the three "p" disciplines mentioned above found their way into the subdiscipline under the heading of behavioral (economic) geography (DICKEN, 1971; PRED, 1967). Substantial building blocks in the advent and development of behavioral geography represented a growing interest in the spatial dimensions of psychological, social and other approaches of human decision making and behavior (GOLLEDGE & TIMMERMANS, 1990, p.57). Some of those early approaches mirrored elements of topical spaces where "decision space can be thought of as a corporate mental map which embodies the whims, prejudices and standing of each member of the management team that plays any part in the formulation of investment, and hence location, decisions" (TAYLOR, 1975, p.322). At the same time, "the ensuing behavioural geography, however, was epistemologically or methodologically no radical departure from the preceding spatial analysis. The decision-maker was still an a-social, atomistic location

manager, cut off from the social and cultural surroundings" (STRAUSS, 2008, p.140). [46]

3. Spatial Concepts in Economic Geography and Regional Economics in Theory and Their Utilization in Conventional Textbooks

In summary, a possible typology might comprise *four different spatial understandings (abstract/universal, economic, social, cultural/cognitive)* that lead to the contemporary diversity of theories and methods in both subdisciplines. In this realm, I propose space to be conceived as a *universal container* (absolute space), *economic location* (relative space), *social place* (relational space), or *cultural landscape* (topical space) (Figure 2, see also COUCLELIS, 1992; HELBRECHT, 2005; LATKA, 2003; SUWALA, 2014). [47]

Interestingly, these concepts of space—with the exception of the concept of the universal container—retain their functions only if *agents* (passive or active) *allocate them meaning* as economic, social, or cultural entities (HELBRECHT, 2005). In addition, universal/absolute space can be imagined as an independent structure of existence, as a reality, or as a substance (HARD, 2003); moreover, topical space comprises both an independent structure of existence (ontology) and is shaped by a cultural-cognitive allocation of meaning (epistemology) (SUWALA, 2021).

conceptions of space	absolute space	relative space	relational space	topical space
visualized model				
metaphor	container	batch	network	field
term	space	location	place	landscape
categories	points, dots, lines, surfaces, planes	relative positions, routes, streets, in regions or administrative units	relations, ties, proximities	landmarks, paths, icons
relations	no relation	marginal relations	mono- or polycentric relations	topocentric relations
philosophy	Ptolemy	Newton	Leibniz	Nishida
allocation of meaning	no, just abstract and universal	economic	social	cultural
re-figuration of spaces	distribution	factors	resonance	consonance

Figure 2: Conception of space in economic geography and regional economics and implication for *refiguration of spaces* (my elaboration, based on SUWALA, 2014, p.131) [48]

Referring to the four conceptions of space as an abstract container, economic location, social place, or cultural landscape, I highlight the following *main differences*:

- While absolute and relative space tend to reflect structures of spaces (= space determinism) under a non-existent or passive involvement of agents, relational space accentuates the construction of spaces (= space voluntarism) by active agents. Topical space is a hybrid that allows for both perspectives of spaces and agents as active ingredients that are mutually dependent and that interpenetrate each other (= space determinism and space voluntarism).
- 2. Accordingly, absolute and relative space refer to spatial structures/frames for agency, while relational space emphasizes agency *per se* to form spaces. In other words, the first two concepts are *space-centered*, while relational space is *actor-centered*. Topical spaces attempt to connect both perspectives. Within the topical concept, space is constructed by agency directly connected to space, while relational space is created by actions between agents. Thus, both the independence and effects of space on agents are conceivable within a topical understanding. [49]

While the debate delineated so far is mainly of a theoretical nature, it is unclear whether these concepts of space are really utilized in the subdisciplines. In order to obtain a rough overview of "common knowledge" and utilization of those concepts in both regional economics and economic geography, I have analyzed eight contemporary German and English university-level textbooks—four on regional economics, two in English and two in German; four on economic geography, two in English and two in German—published after the year 2000. The textbooks were purposefully selected based on a plausible choice of scripts where explicit statements were made with regard to concepts of space. This is by far not a representative sample of textbooks in both subdisciplines, but rather is based on the following sampling rationale: [50]

Neither *older textbooks* (the publication date of the first edition is always specified) on regional economics (KRÄTKE, 1995; MAIER & TÖDTLING, 1992; MAIER, TÖDTLING & TRIPPL, 1996; RICHARDSON, 1969; TEMPLE, 1994) or economic geography (HAYTER, 1997; LLOYD & DICKEN, 1972; SCHÄTZL, 1978) nor handbooks or edited volumes (BRÖCKER & FRITSCH, 2012; CAPELLO & NIJKAMP, 2010; CLARK, FELDMAN, GERTLER & WÓJCIK, 2018; LEYSHON, LEE, McDOWELL & SUNLEY, 2011; MARTIN & SUNLEY, 2008; NIJKAMP, 1987) were taken into account since they either do not represent the "state of the art" anymore or are too diverse (due to different authors) to identify a common thread. Textbooks (despite newer publication dates) with a special perspective, such as institutional economic(s) (geography), environment economic(s) (geography), critical economic(s) (geography), political economic(s) (geography), systems-based economic(s) (geography) (BARNES & CHRISTOPHERS, 2018; COMBES, MEYER & THISSE, 2008; HAYTER & PATCHELL, 2011; MacKINNON & CUMBERS, 2007; STAUDACHER, 2005) were also left out because of different structural logics and motifs. [51]

The following *textbooks*—despite newer publication dates—were not included in the analysis (Table 1), although they fulfill the above-mentioned criteria (as the author is more familiar with the ones presented); notwithstanding, they were

examined and found roughly in line with the conclusions drawn from the substitutes/ones analyzed (regional economics: SCHÖLER, 2005; STÖRMANN, 2009; economic geography: BRAUN & SCHULZ, 2012; HAAS & NEUMAIR, 2007; PALME & MUSIL, 2012).

Economic Geography			
	Absolute space	Relative space	Relational space
BATHELT and GLÜCKLER (2002, 2018a)	х	XX	XXX
KULKE (2004, 2017)	x	XXX	x
COE, KELLY and YEUNG (2007, 2019)	х	XX	XX
WOOD and ROBERTS (2011)	x	XX	XX
Regional Economics			
	Absolute space	Relative space	Relational space
McCANN (2001, 2013)	XX	XX	
CAPELLO (2007, 2016)	xx	XX	(X)
ECKEY (2008)	XX	XX	
FARHAUER and KRÖLL (2013, 2014)	XX	XX	

Table 1: Contemporary textbooks on economic geography and regional economics and understandings of conceptions of space (key: XXX = motif of the book, XX= key part, X = minor indications; the publication date of the first edition and last edition to date is always indicated) [52]

A first general result of this textbook analysis is that *only a few spatial terms* such as "location," with an explicit economic allocation of meaning, and/or "regions," both in a relative understanding, *are more or less employed consistently*. For the most part, manifold spatial terms like "places," "landscapes," "environments," or "territories" carry mixed, arbitrary, and sometimes even conflicting meanings. A second general result reveals that most textbooks on economic geography and regional economics still mostly utilize a *scale-based partition* between location theories (a mostly micro-economic perspective) and regional growth and development theory (a mostly macro-economic perspective) as basic building blocks (CAPELLO, 2007; ECKEY, 2008; FARHAUER & KRÖLL, 2013; KULKE, 2004; McCANN, 2001). [53]

Textbooks on *regional economics* are relatively homogenous with regard to concepts of (absolute and relative) space (Table 1), without really elaborating too much on the nature of spaces in general (with the notable exception of

CAPELLO, 2007). At the same time, the textbooks are focused either on policy implications (ECKEY, 2008; McCANN, 2001) or methods (FARHAUER & KRÖLL, 2013) with manifold numerical underpinnings of empirical examples and elaborated formal remarks. The underlying scientific philosophies comprise (neo-)positivism, principles of regularity, and equilibrium thinking with a strong quantitative focus, accelerated by progress in methods (FARHAUER & KRÖLL, 2013) or the availability of advanced fine-grained regional and big data (e.g., the German Socio-Economic Panel data set). Despite abstract/universal conceptions of space, both analytical and comparative research are highly applicable. [54]

Textbooks on *economic geography* are generally more diverse in utilizing concepts of space, with the majority still focusing on relative concepts of space (Table 1). However, they are more open to both absolute space as the subdiscipline's legacy and relational conceptions as a novel perspective on space. In general, conceptions of space are also not thoroughly covered (with the exception of BATHELT & GLÜCKLER, 2002, who introduced their relational perspective against the absolute/relative understanding). Since critical realism and the principle of contingency entered the scene as novel scientific philosophies, traditional "regional economics" quantitative methodologies are often combined with qualitative case studies, resulting in simplified and stylized figures open to a hands-on-approach and real-world visualizations. This conceptual and methodological openness occurs at the expense of comparative research. Case studies are at risk of becoming descriptive, instead producing (isolated) and non-transferable typologies when pertinent insights are mirrored against the state of art in the subdiscipline. [55]

Finally, it is possible to observe that *topical spaces*, in an economic sense of space as cultural-cognitive landscapes, are only, if at all, a *side dish* in contemporary textbooks (MacKINNON & CUMBERS, 2007, Section 2.5; BARNES & CHRISTOPHERS, 2018, scattered throughout the book pp.92-94, p.100). Integrating insights from psychology and cultural studies is still somehow a bottom line in both regional economics and economic geography. [56]

4. The Notion of a Refiguration of Spaces

In order to specify what is meant by *refiguration of spaces*—a term coined by KNOBLAUCH and LÖW (2017), amongst others—it is necessary to take a closer look at both "refiguration" and "spaces," as well as their interplay. According to KNOBLAUCH and LÖW, refiguration is considered as a preliminary metaphor expressing multiple processes of circulation involving human beings, things, and technologies that give rise to a fundamental shift in the understanding of space. This shift can be roughly described by the basic assumption that "space which has been experienced as homogenous in early socialization [...] is increasingly becoming insular" (p.14). [57]

Therefore, the notion of (re-)figuration has to be very abstract in order to grasp spatial relations of any order and across various scales in the first stance, while perpetuating some rudimentary spatial categories such as locality or place

(COULDRY & HEPP, 2016). *The insularization of space is a result of three interrelated processes* (KNOBLAUCH & LÖW, 2017):

- Mediatization encompasses the incorporation of new media and technologies into communicative structure and agency, whereby both present and absent locations can be interactively affected.
- *Polycontexturalization* entails diverse institutional orders or frames occurring simultaneously at one location.
- *Translocalization* refers to recurrent coupling of different locations in conjunction with an increase in the semantic content of the current individual location. [58]

In other words, the *constitution of space* is becoming increasingly heterogeneous, and *spatial synthesis* is multiplying through

- novel opportunities of affecting spaces;
- changing relations of spaces; and
- the increased connectedness of spaces. [59]

The resulting refiguration of spaces, however, is not by any means a one-way street; rather, it includes both tendencies toward heterogeneity, boundaries, and heterarchies, as well as territorially based, centralistic, and hierarchically scaled entities (ibid.). These ideas break definitively new ground when they are systematized and aggregated, but how do they differ from the contemporary conceptualization of terms such as "globalization" (merely conceptualized in relative space) or "embeddedness" (merely conceptualized in relational space)? KNOBLAUCH and LÖW, indeed, provided several direct or indirect hints. For instance, *polycontexturalization* means that different institutional orders or frames occur simultaneously in space. [60]

Translocalization can be described—and here KNOBLAUCH and LÖW referred to GIDDENS (1991)—as more than just "the lifting out of social relationships from local contexts and their recombination across indefinite time/space distances" (p.242). Rather, it represents a complex process in which social units (e.g., families, neighborhoods, and religious communities) are not only embedded in places but are also exposed to circulation linking different places. Here, spaces have a tendency to be subjected more frequently to conflicts between individuals, networks, and organizations (KNOBLAUCH & LÖW, 2017). [61]

Economic geographers partly touch on these ideas in recent studies investigating, for instance, the spatiality of migrant economies where they brought the dual, mixed, or multiple embeddedness of migrant entrepreneurs conceptualizing different embeddings at once to the fore (BASCO, 2017; KLOOSTERMANN & RATH, 2018; MÜLLER & FRANZ, 2019; SELCUK & SUWALA, 2020). These ideas were studied in depth by KLOOSTERMANN and colleagues (KLOOSTERMANN & RATH 2018; KLOOSTERMANN, VAN DER LEUN & RATH, 1999). For some time, others have talked about "place polygamy —towards globalization in personal life" (BECK, 2000 [1997], p.72) in this realm; these ventures are compatible with some ideas involving the refiguration of spaces. I will elaborate further on this link in Section 5.1 with regard to the internationalization of companies. [62]

Moreover, KNOBLAUCH and LÖW (2017) linked the process of *mediatization* (in particular, the digitalization and intra-activization of communicative action) and its effects on how agency is spatially connected to globalization. According to both authors, "the notion of globalization, however, implies a reference to scales (local, regional, national, global) which suggest a distinct and fixed spatial order and an increasing relevance according to size (i.e., the increasing relevance of globality)" (p.15). [63]

Since KNOBLAUCH and LÖW disagreed on the fact that spaces are systems of linear arrangement, the notion of translocalization was suggested. This concept stresses the fact that in a highly borderless and interconnected world (a notion that refers at least partly to advanced mass communication), the intensified circulation of subjects and objects—some fungible and tangible, but first and foremost intangible and memorable (PINE & GILMORE, 1999; PFEUFER & SUWALA, 2020)—produces intentional and (non-)intentional consequences for other spaces and on various scales. Therefore, supplementary selective and reflexive forms of belonging to spaces are possible (KNOBLAUCH & LÖW, 2017). I will explain this link in more detail in Section 5.2 with regard to world trade interdependencies. All in all, one fundamental message is that

"as space is not just an accidental aspect but a basic feature of sociality, spatiality is central to the analysis of refiguration. In fact, we take space to be the major form in which we can observe the refiguration of contemporary societies" (p.11). [64]

5. Space-Economy Applications for the Refiguration of Spaces Across Different Scales

In order to shed some practical light on the theoretical/methodological elaborations so far, I will illustrate how concepts of space are utilized and can be linked to research in economic geography and regional economics by emphasizing two examples of meaningful contemporary (economic) phenomena across different scales:

- the internationalization of companies (micro-economic perspective);
- world trade interdependencies (macro-economic perspective). [65]

I will interpret both along the lines of the presented conceptions of space and by adding ideas of refiguration of spaces. My intention is also to provide interesting insights and perspectives or to at least assess possibilities for comparative research. I chose these examples on purpose as they illustrate archetypal topics and the raison d'être in both economic geography and regional economics. [66]

5.1 The micro-economic perspective: The internationalization of companies

Location theory—in other words, modeling the location choice of firms—gives both economic geography and regional economics their scientific-disciplinary identity and constitutes one of their key theoretical-methodological topics (CAPELLO, 2011; KULKE, 2004, SUWALA, 2018). This theoretical paradigm was founded by researchers in microeconomics, and adopted a traditionally static approach using absolute (grid open to calculation) and relative space (points that gain meaning as relative positions and economic locations) (SUWALA, 2014). If the idea of "location choice" is developed further during the expansion of a firm in the home region or beyond (in other words: internationalization), the problem becomes more complex, multi-locational, challenging, and is compatible with ideas of refiguration of spaces. *Multilocality*, in particular, embraces the idea of the need for *mediatization* (communication between locations), *polycontexturalization* (multiple framing of locations), and *translocalization* (multiple exposure of locations). Regional economists and economic geographers have approached these developments in different ways. [67]

In order to grasp the multiple spatial and economic logics and patterns of internationalization, *regional economics* reacted with

- revised (theoretical) assumptions like heterogeneous firms or agglomeration economies in analytical mathematic models (BALDWIN & OKUBO, 2006; OTTAVIANO, 2010); and
- advanced methodologies by designing sophisticated indices. [68]

With regard to *revised and relaxed assumptions*, one could put it as follows: Models of contemporary regional economics allow for much more differentiated input factors—in other words, special locational factors such as heterogeneous firms (e.g., firms of different sizes or working in different industries) or agglomeration economies (e.g., favorable effects induced, for example, by reducing the minimum average cost of production through higher output in one factory). These special locational factors extend beyond "general factors [...] those that affect all industries, and are therefore *not* dealing with the 'pure theory of location''' (in a similar vein, PREDÖHL, 1928, p.386, as he referred to WEBER's pure theory of location). In doing so, regional economists are now able to model and explain different idiosyncrasies and trajectories of internationalization (of course with the consequence that the complexity and the number of different models applied rises significantly) (GAUBERT, 2018; OKUBO, PICARD & THISSE, 2010). [69]

With regard to *advanced methodologies*, *sophisticated indices* have been designed by researchers to understand at least *polycontexturalization* or *translocalization*. Just to mention two examples of such indices:

• The "Internationalization Index" (II) is calculated as the number of foreign affiliates divided by the number of all affiliates of a firm

 The "Geographical Spread Index" (GSI) is another measure and is calculated as the square root of the Internationalization Index (II) multiplied by the number of host countries (UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ON TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT, 2018) [70]

Regional economists have also been using *more detailed regional and company databases*, captured, for example, by the "Transnationality Index" (TNI) in order to characterize the inter- or transnationalization of firms. The TNI is calculated as the arithmetic mean of the following three ratios:

- the ratio of foreign assets to total assets;
- the ratio of foreign sales to total sales;
- the ratio of foreign employment to total employment, where "foreign" means outside of the firm's home country (ibid.). [71]

For these reasons and in this realm, regional economists have mostly operated and been forced to operate with relative concepts of space bearing in mind that one day it might be possible to access an exact, pure, or universal model in abstract space. Economic geographers have mostly developed and employed (or domesticized) models of adjacent disciplines such as international business studies (DUNNING, 1980; HÅKANSON, 1979; JOHANSON & VAHLNE, 1977). These models were predominantly descriptive, stage-based, real-world approaches, representing an attempt to comprehend the expansion or internationalization of firms (CHAPMAN & WALKER, 1987; DICKEN 1976; HAYTER & WATTS, 1983). These approaches were either based on atomistic, functional, and factor-based explanations, describing reasons for going abroad grounded on ownership, internalization, and locational attributes (DUNNING, 1980), or they approached internationalization by means of stage models by aggregating empirical case studies and building "common knowledge" about observed favorable location conditions. The rationale behind these models was to optimize locations of multi-plant firms by minimizing transportation costs or liabilities of foreignness (SUWALA & KULKE, 2017). In a more general sense, the idea is to balance agglomeration (dis-)economies either through concentration or dispersal (BASCO & SUWALA, 2021; SUWALA, 2014). Scholars secured a certain degree of comparability between cases with this common knowledge by applying those models to novel case studies and an on-going theoretical reformulation of models. However, although common knowledge rested on simple methodological conceptions of the relative position of locations in space that were somehow tied by linkages, numerous new scalar categories (e.g., domestic, transnational, multinational, global) were introduced to characterize such multilocational ventures (DICKEN, 1976). The concept of space used was predominantly relative, merely portraying descriptive linkages between locations of multi-plant firms (SUWALA, 2021). [72]

The rise of *multi- or transnational corporations* (MNC/TNC) *and their respective intra- and inter-firm networks*, however, called for more advanced approaches that also take into account knowledge flows, innovation, and learning within those

economic linkages by investigating genuine relationships therein (KULKE & SUWALA, 2016). One of the approaches brought by economic theorists to the fore is attempting to explain these increasingly complex relationships within and between firms (networks as a consequence of internationalization, among other things) is transaction cost theory (COASE, 1937). Transaction costs are costs associated with the determination, transfer, and enforcement of rights to dispose between economic entities while exchanging services (WILLIAMSON, 1975). Regional economists and economic geographers introduced space as a further variable when looking at these costs (SCOTT, 1986, 1998); the basic assumption was that the concentration of and proximity between firms can lead to a decrease in these costs (SUWALA, 2006). In this case, "we can think of production [...] as a (spatial) network or complex of transactions" (SCOTT, 1986, p.219). Optimizing costs within this (spatial) network is nothing more than balancing internal and external transactions within and between firms. This results in different types of organizational structures (e.g., hierarchy (firm), market) in the original sense, or different types of organizational structures in space (e.g., spatial entropy, clusters) (SCOTT, 1986, 1998). Although ideas of spatial transaction costs intermittently led to improved explanations for these complex linkages, they were unable to satisfactorily explain the nature and further dimensions of those relationships (e.g., communication, power, reputation, openness, technology, or knowledge) within and between networks beyond a purely cost-based (economic) consideration (KULKE, 2004; SUWALA, 2006). In this regard, SCOTT (1986) suggested "develop[ing] explanatory frameworks that are fully sensitive to the combined effects of social structure and contingent historical events in the emergence of geographical realities" (p.228), pointing to a relational understanding of space. [73]

This direction was intensified, in particular, by economic geographers from the early 1990s on, who emphasized the aforementioned idea that *economic agency is thus always social agency* and does not happen between isolated agents but rather is embedded in ongoing processes of social relations (GRABHER 1993; GRANOVETTER, 1985). In other words, social relations are characterized by different types of *embeddedness* and represent *interaction* between (active) agents, even more so within the context of internationalization. These ideas centered around embeddedness and the importance of context for the expansion of firms, internationalization decisions, or internationalizing value chains (DICKEN, KELLY, OLDS & YEUNG, 2001; OINAS, 1997). They slowly opened black boxes of linkages (SUWALA & OINAS, 2012). [74]

Very illustrative examples in this realm include the *internationalization of firms in the knowledge-intensive service sector* (e.g., consulting and law firms) (GLÜCKLER, 2004; PEIKER, 2017). The decision to go abroad is now conceptualized as a *relational market selection* and goes beyond the sole consideration of atomistic or isolated locational factors when internationalizing (e.g., foreign market size, sales opportunities), which accentuates the relative positions of locations (relative space) and their particularities. This (relational) selection of markets abroad can comprise various types of relational internationalization—for example, reactive client-following and piggybacking

(GLÜCKLER, 2004; PEIKER, 2017; PEIKER & SUWALA, 2015; PEIKER, PFLANZ, KUJATH & KULKE, 2012; SUWALA, 2021). Let us consider these two types. "Reactive client-following" is a relational market selection mode characterized by initiative clients who request that firms expand their activities to foreign markets either where the client is already active or intends to start a venture in the near future (PEIKER & SUWALA, 2015). Piggybacking describes a relational market entry mode where firms access a market on the back of strategic partners or collaborators. Those partners are crucial in the beginning when the entering firm requires additional capacities or competence to serve new clients (GLÜCKLER, 2004). In both cases, internationalization decisions are not isolated top-down decisions implemented in executive council meetings by a few strategists, but rather they are decisions grounded in the various embeddings and connected to interactions within the firm and agents' networks as described in concepts such as relational and structural embeddedness (HESS, 2004). At the same time, generalizations and comparisons became increasingly difficult as case studies proved to be highly contingent and path-dependent (see ideas for a relational research design in economic geography by BATHELT & GLÜCKLER, 2018b, p.189f.). [75]

The same holds true for contemporary approaches such as *management* geography. Researchers in this tradition have constructed internationalization decisions as a multi-spatial management task based on active agents balancing different (relative, relational, and topic) spatialities (BASCO & SUWALA, 2020; JONES, 2018; SCHLUNZE, BABER & AGOLA, 2012; SUWALA, 2014, 2021; SUWALA & OINAS, 2012; SUWALA & SCHLUNZE, 2019). In doing so, management geographers attempted to explain managerial agency across and within spaces when firms have to decide about their appropriate locations, local or international operations, strategic relationships with suppliers and customers, or internal and external images (BASCO & SUWALA, 2020, 2021; SUWALA, 2021). All these activities point to a multi-spatial coordination task in which the management has to balance and optimize the different logics and self-reinforcing mechanisms within the different spatialities (PACHURA, 2021; YEUNG, 2005b; SUWALA, 2014). The concepts of space align with the understandings of economic spaces as locations, social spaces as places, and cognitive spaces as cognitive landscapes (Sections 2.2-2.4). Managers or corporate decision makers have to carefully deal with those economic, social, and cognitive spaces, where each can be interpreted as a continuum between different types of spatial selfreinforcing mechanisms: (dis-)economies arising from concentration/dispersal (in a relative sense), interaction/isolation (in a relational sense), and perception/agnosia (in a topical sense). In other words, the objective is to analyze the management of economic, social, and cognitive spatial domains in multiscalar configurations influencing corporate performance through concentration, interaction, and perception. Let us shortly elaborate on the economic, social, and cognitive spatial domains:

- Economic space is understood as location. Space retains economic meaning as a location by the simple fact that expenses for transportation and transaction accrue over distance; hence, a particular location is relative (against other locations) and spatial costs (e.g., transaction and transportation) can be calculated (SUWALA, 2014). Within this domain, the manager has to address different problems related to the location such as the locational strategy of the firm, the optimal spatial decision regarding location factors, or objectifiable reasons for internationalization expressed, for example, as liabilities of foreignness or otherness (SUWALA & KULKE, 2017). Managerial tasks can be summarized by optimizing agglomeration economies within the firm in terms of internal and external economies. Internal economies include economies of horizontal integration, lateral integration, and vertical integration, while external economies are related to localization economies, urbanization economies, and activity-complex economies (NAKAMURA, 2018; PARR, 2002). On the contrary, exceeding a particular firm and/or location size may lead to applomeration (dis-)economies like congestion, environment fraud, or excessive location costs. What matters is the optimization between concentration and dispersal of economic activities (SUWALA, 2021).
- Social space relates to places. Places are constructed through social, egocentric relations between individuals; they are, therefore, relational. In other words, "social space involves the network of functional relationships and social interactions" (TRIP & ROMEIN, 2010, p.5). Places are about context and they can only be brought to life through the social and relational embeddedness of actors. Within this domain, the manager has to balance family relationships, firm-internal and firm-external ties (suppliers, customers), and friendship networks (SUWALA, 2021) to provide solutions to the fundamental problem of coordinating relationships between economic actors (BOSCHMA, 2005). Those relationships are characterized by different types of proximities-for example, spatial, cognitive, organizational, institutional, and cultural proximities (KNOBEN & OERLEMANS, 2006). Proximities may become proximity economies when fueled by power, trust, and reciprocity resulting in place-based knowledge and learning processes-by means of face-to-face meetings, buzz, noise, etc. (SUWALA, 2021). On the contrary, proximity (dis-)economies may arise as consequences of under- and overembeddedness and lock-out or lock-in of actors in places (GRABHER, 1993; HASSINK, 2010). This involves establishing and orchestrating the interaction and isolation of economic actors.
- Cognitive spaces are visualized here by means of landscapes. Landscapes are the result of the topo-centric relations between individuals and space.
 Individuals are bound together not only by (ego-)relations among themselves (relational view) but also by topical-relations directly with space. This creates the metaphor of a topical field where individuals collectively share similar cognitive images, spatial mindsets, and particular atmospheres without necessarily knowing each other personally (BRINKHOFF et al., 2015). Within this domain, the manager designs firm values, a charter, or a company logo in order to establish a long-lasting corporate culture reinforced by manifold

images or material icons where the environment or workplace design plays a crucial role. It is about a "stockpile of knowledge, traditions, memories and images" (SCOTT, 2010, p.123), which helps to create (mutual) atmospheres to stimulate pertinent perceptions and holistic experiences. They can result in experience economies (e.g., entertainment, educational, aesthetic, and escapist experiences (SUWALA, 2014)) depending on the intensity of attention and memorability of extraordinary events and may arise from overlapping perceptions (LANGE, POWER & SUWALA, 2014; PFEUFER & SUWALA, 2020). In contrast, experience dis-economies arise from a plethora of impressions, overstimulation of senses, or excessive immersion, among other things. Therefore, it is necessary to strike a balance between perception and agnosia within experiences of economic actors (SUWALA, 2021). [76]

Each of these spatialities comprises managerial roles such as concentration roles as a locational explorer (relative view, economic space, concentration), interactional roles as an embedded gatekeeper (relational view, social space, interaction), and informational roles as an experienced preceptor (topical view, cognitive space, perception). Taken together, space or place leadership with managerial/corporate spatial responsibilities is conceivable (ALBERS & SUWALA, 2021; SUWALA & ALBERS, 2020) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Multi-spatial management framework (my modification, based on SUWALA & OINAS, 2012, p.7) [77]

Researchers who pursued ideas from the refiguration of space framework opened novel perspectives in both cases—for example, internationalization of knowledge-intensive firms, multi-spatial management framework (BAUR, MENNELL & MILLION, 2021; KNOBLAUCH & LÖW, 2017). The benefit of the refiguration of space concept stems from the fact that it is able grasp spatial relations of any order and across various scales. Moreover, just like the multispatial management framework, it operates simultaneously alongside different understandings of space. Let us take a look at how mediatization, translocalization, and polycontexturalization can help here:

- *Mediatization* points to the importance of communicative structure and agency and reminds us that the internationalization decision affects not only present but also absent locations.
- *Translocalization* accentuates the fact that decision makers and agents in senior positions are highly cosmopolitan, mobile, and therefore embedded in multiple locations at once.
- *Polycontexturalization* entails diverse institutional orders or frames in which decision makers are situated. [78]

The internationalization or globalization of knowledge-intensive firms like the aforementioned consulting and law firms is often accompanied by contributors as the need to transfer different types of knowledge via new means of communication and agency. Whether or not these new means of communication can help to transfer tacit, sticky, or place-bound knowledge is another question. The genuine novelty of mediatization underlines the fact that the decision to internationalize affects both present and absent locations. Here, the "24/7 metaphor" within internationalized firms able to serve their clients "anytime, anywhere" by having affiliated offices in so-called world cities (BEAVERSTOCK, SMITH & TAYLOR, 2000) is an appropriate expression. In other words, they offer novel opportunities to (un)intentionally affect (absent) spaces. Moreover, the increased mobility of decision makers and agents in (abroad) senior positionsoften called "expatriates" (Talent Mobility 2020 Report by PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS INTERNATIONAL, 2010; BEAVERSTOCK, 2017) leads to increased connectivity between spaces pointing to translocalization. Interestingly, despite the increased connectivity between spaces, the semantic content of actual individual location is also regaining in significance. The workplace design, the semiotic or aesthetic context of locations or places—for example, as event-driven third places or festival spaces—is becoming a crucial factor in spatial field configurations (LANGE et al., 2014; OLDENBOURG, 2001; RICHARDS & JARMAN, 2021). All in all, some circumstances point to the "multilocality," "multiplicity," or "multi-landscapability" effects of formerly situated localization or internationalization decisions. This reminds us of BOHM's (1980) topological figure of economy as being in two places at once: economic objects are bifocal, having both a point and wave form. Although the refiguration of spaces provides a powerful framework with three distinct spatial realities to properly understand current international decisions, it lacks a clear distinction regarding the utilization of spatial concepts (e.g., location, context, etc.) and coherent terminology (e.g., whereas translocalization portrays a rather relational (individual-individual) coupling of spaces in KNOBLAUCH's and LÖW's (2017) framework, the "localization" part of the term gives the impression that it can be associated with a relative concept of space, at least in regional economics and economic geography). I, therefore, propose the term

"transplicity," in reference to "transplaces" as places where a recurrent coupling of active agents takes place. [79]

5.2 Macro-economic perspective: World trade interdependencies

World trade interdependencies (i.e., economic globalization) have been another fundamental research object in both regional economics and economic geography. In particular, contributors to regional growth and development theory focus on spatial aspects of economic growth and the spatial distribution and exchange of land, labor, and capital across various scales and among different economic entities (CAPELLO, 2012; ECKEY, 2008). This research angle and objective constitutes a second pillow in both subdisciplines and is the macroeconomic counterpart to location theory (KULKE, 2004; SCHÄTZL, 1978; SCHÖLER, 2005). World trade interdependencies or economic globalization has many dimensions and is probably the most important spatial phenomenon leading to a possible refiguration of spaces. All three main ingredients in this realmmediatization (communication between locations), polycontexturalization (multiple framing of locations), and translocalization (multiple exposure of locations)-can be of particular interest for understanding this phenomenon. As mentioned above, regional economists and economic geographers have approached these developments in different ways. [80]

A widely accepted bottom line in that realm is that growth rates in countries with intensive reciprocal trade relations are higher than those in closed or isolated economies. These economies are the result of both intensified trade relations and trade liberalization (KRUGMAN & OBSTFELD, 2000 [1987]). Early advocates of approaches in classic and neoclassical economics or foreign trade theory—which constitute a mutual heritage in both subdisciplines—analyzed determinants for the existence, structure or direction of international trade and international factor migration and their implications on domestic welfare and income distribution. Their theories on absolute and comparative advantages (RICARDO, 1817; SMITH, 1776), the factor-price equalization theorem (HECKSCHER, 1919; OHLIN, 1933), or the (non-)availability approach (KRAVIS, 1956) form the basis for explaining trade predominantly between two countries based on different specializations and endowment effects on or mobility of available goods. In later approaches, which were mostly driven by regional economics, researchers addressed growth opportunities for countries based on exports (export-based theory, NORTH, 1955) or the optimization of spatial pricing and tariffs (BENSON) & HARTIGAN, 1983). Despite progression in the models' complexities and more realistic assumptions, most approaches designed by economic theorists were only two-good and two-country aggregate models. All these approaches originated in absolute space (as numbers, points, and diagrams) and became significant as economic entities (e.g., as countries) as they were allocated economic meaning in relative spaces. [81]

To put it in the words of VON BÖVENTER (1975): "within regional economics one could distinguish between 'pure and exact' regional theory [...], on the one hand, and 'applied regional theory' which is inexact [...] on the other hand" (p.3). If the

idea of regional growth and development are developed further beyond traditional production factors (e.g., land, labor, and capital) and their mostly opportunistic and economically driven exchange, trade, and movement of goods across regions or borders based on arbitrage concerning ground rents, real wages, or interest rates, manifold trade interdependencies are conceivable as will become clear in what follows. [82]

The *simultaneous rise of multilateral*—e.g., the General Agreement on Trade Tariffs (GATT), the World Trade Organization (WTO)—, *plurilateral*—e.g., the European Union (EU), the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA)—, and *bilateral trade agreements*—e.g., various Free Trade Agreements (FTAs)—in the real world, however, called for a more fine-grained and elaborate big picture on world trade interdependencies (SUWALA, 2007). One answer was theories of economic integration (LIPSEY, 1960; VINER, 1950), which highlighted "large-scale economies, technological change, as well as the impact of integration on market structure and competition, productivity growth, risk and uncertainty, and investment activity" (BALASSA, 1961, p.117). [83]

Partial explanations were developed by foreign trade theorists into stage models of economic integration emphasizing preferential trade areas (PTA), free trade areas (FTA), customs unions (CU), common markets (CM), and economic unions as forms with increasing levels of economic integration. In general, the degree of economic integration increases starting with PTA, where two (or more) countries agree on preferential access to certain products by reducing tariffs but not by abolishing them completely (which is usually done in FTAs). Whereas PTAs, FTAs, and CUs represent preferential and/or free flows of certain goods, more advanced forms of economic integration such as CMs or economic unions also allow for a preferential or free exchange of production factors (labor, capital). The European Union is by far the area with the most intensive economic integration (economic union) permitting freedom of movement for workers, rights of establishment of any economic entities, and free movement of (financial) services (see KULKE, 2004, for a good summary; KULKE & SUWALA, 2015). A practical measure, originally adopted by the European Committee for Banking Standards (ECBS), for the simpler movement of capital is the International Bank Account Number (IBAN), an internationally agreed system used to identify bank accounts across national borders to facilitate the communication and processing of crossborder transactions. [84]

Plurilateral trade agreements—for example, COMESA (Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa) or AFTA (ASEAN Free Trade Area)—and multilateral trade agreements—for example, GATT, which is the predecessor of the WTO—are expressions of framework economic integration among certain regional trade blocs or unified under a global umbrella. Within the framework of the WTO, for example, five fundamental guiding principles regulate economic exchange (KULKE & SUWALA, 2015; SUWALA, 2007):

- The most-favored-nation treatment principle (GATT 1947, Article I) obliges WTO members to immediately and unconditionally grant any other WTO member and its nationals any advantage they grant to a trading partner in terms of trading goods (WORLD TRADE ORGANIZATION, 1998, p.31).
- The principle of national treatment (GATT 1947, Article III) prohibits WTO members from treating foreign goods and their suppliers less favorably than domestic goods and their suppliers (p.34).
- Transparency (GATT 1947, Article X) calls for regulations and restrictions on foreign trade accessible to anyone by publishing these rules and often requires WTO members to notify the WTO Secretariat of any changes (p.40).
- The WTO—established as the successor to the GATT on January 1, 1995 is a negotiating forum that serves to dismantle all kinds of trade barriers in favor of liberalization (p.6).
- The principle of reciprocity establishes a system of multilateral concessions, where concessions granted between states should be equitable and balanced (p.31). [85]

For empirical research, the question arises of *how to depict such complex interdependencies?* Some ideas have been developed to assess, for example, the level of economic integration within the European Union. The EU-Integration-Index was designed by researchers to describe and rank the economic integration of certain members in the European Union (KÖNIG & OHR, 2013). With regard to political events, there are different types of this index. The EU-15 or 25-Index, for example, has been used to determine the individual degree of European integration for each member state of the old EU-15 (later 25) countries every year since 1999 based on a principal component analysis (PCA). Moreover, the index is subdivided into partial measures like EU-trade interdependencies, EU-homogeneity, EU-symmetry, and EU-conformity to assess the following circumstances:

- the European single market;
- the level of economic homogeneity between the member states;
- the degree of correlated business cycles;
- the members' compliance with common institutional achievements (EMU and Schengen) and the *acquis communautaire* (KÖNIG & OHR, 2012). [86]

Some of the aforementioned principles (e.g., freedom of movement for workers, openness to trade with capital, most-favored-nation principle) are approximated by indicators such as "completed infringement proceedings via the European Court of Justice (ECJ) verdict in the field of the EU single market" or "consumer tax rate" (KÖNIG & OHR, 2013, p.1084). These ideas are grounded in relative conceptions of space and allow for relatively good comparative research that also takes into account the increased availability of regional data, the establishment of indices using advanced methods—for example, the aforementioned EU-Integration-Index (KÖNIG & OHR, 2012), or other globalization indices (A.T. KEARNEY & FOREIGN POLICY, 2002; DREHER, 2006). [87]

However, the contemporary picture of analysts of world trade interdependencies is much more complex than it is portrayed in most aggregated indicator-based considerations (e.g., integration indices). Figure 4, for instance, shows European countries and their multi-layered economic and political agreements. Let us consider the Republic of Ireland, for example. It is a member of the Council of Europe—a human rights organization working to uphold human rights, democracy, and the rule of law in Europe—, the European Union Customs Union, the European Economic Area—an international agreement extending the EU single market to non-EU member parties, the European Union-a political and economic union of currently 28 member states (as of September 2019)---, and the Eurozone—a monetary union of 19 of the 28 EU member states that adopted the euro (\in) as a common currency and legal tender—, but not the Schengen Area—an area comprising 26 European states where all types of border control at their mutual borders have been officially abolished. The area generally functions as a single jurisdiction for international travel purposes, including a common visa policy. The only other country with identical political and economic ties in Europe is the Republic of Cyprus. This points to the multiple embeddings of countries/their representatives and their manifold and idiosyncratic contexts (BEYERS, 2005). Moreover, it shows innumerable perspectives and interdependencies at both the bi- and plurilateral level. In this realm, not only country-country interdependencies (relational view), but also country-spacecountry interdependencies (topical view) are conceivable.



Figure 4: Trade polycontextualization of European countries in 2015 [88]

Of course, world trade interdependencies are conceptualized by observers to have multifaceted and partial manifestations beyond purely economic issues (for various and unusual examples, see LE MONDE DIPLOMATIQUE, 2015). Some economic geographers have introduced novel approaches based on relational

conceptions of space as relational upgrading in global value networks to comprehend these partial explanations when assessing trade interdependencies (GLÜCKLER & PANITZ, 2016). However, not only do generalizations and comparisons become increasingly difficult, but also conceptualizing relationality within trade interdependencies is extremely complex as various perspectives of economic entities have to be taken into account. LE MONDE DIPLOMATIQUE (2015), for instance, portrayed and illustrated "the world views" and exchanged patterns of various countries such as China and India, which, of course, heavily depended on both manifold circumstances (historical, cultural, social) beyond the economic rationales and the eye of the beholder (pp.202-205). [89]

Authors who proposed the refiguration of space framework and, in particular, polycontexturalization and translocalization provided helpful insights here. *Polycontextualization* expresses de facto these diverse institutional orders or frames that occur simultaneously at the country level (Figure 4). Here, novel measures like multidimensional indexes of integration efforts (KÖNIG, 2017; PARK & CLAVERIA, 2018) might be an interesting methodology to depict these circumstances. *Translocalization* describes that agents are not only embedded in places, but also exposed to circulation linking different places. Ideas and studies involving the multiple embeddedness of senior officials in supranational European institutions who deal with these trade treaties mirror these efforts (BEYERS, 2005). The challenging part within the macro-economic perspective is how to conceptualize a kind of "structural relationality" that is genuinely relational and deals with cities, regions, and/or countries as substitutes for agents. In this realm, McCANN and WARD (2010) underlined that

"the urban region [or any other spatial entity] is, thus, a social and political product that cannot be understood without reference to its relations with various other scales. Yet, to study how this social production gets done involves the study of a whole series of very specific and situated interactions, practices, performances, and negotiations" (p.177). [90]

What sounds logical at first sight is almost a Herculean task when predominantly centered around human agency as the origin of relational space and scalar entities. Although the refiguration of spaces provides a framework that is able to grasp spatial relations of any order and across various scales while perpetuating some rudimentary spatial categories such as locality or place (COULDRY & HEPP, 2016), I would like to make clear here that space itself in a topical sense can play a crucial role as an intermediating entity. This call, to repeat the very rationale behind the refiguration of space framework, is echoed by KNOBLAUCH and LÖW (2017), who maintained that "space is not just an accidental aspect but a basic feature of sociality, spatiality is central to the analysis of refiguration" (p.11), albeit in a very abstract way. [91]

Similar concerns as those from a micro-economic view hold true here. Although the refiguration of spaces provides a powerful framework with three distinct spatial realities to properly understand current world trade interdependencies, it lacks a clear distinction regarding the utilization of spatial concepts (e.g., location, context, etc.) and coherent and consistent terminology. Apart from that, ideas on how to deal with large, regionalized databases (e.g., panels) are warmly welcome. Suggestions can already be found within the subdisciplines themselves. The concept of (un)related varieties opens up new possibilities for how to analyze intangible world trade interdependences (e.g., knowledge spillovers). In its original take, knowledge spillovers are linked with economic development in the concept from (evolutionary) economic geography. The rationale is that closely related industries (e.g., traditions in electronics might lead to e-vehicles) within a region unfold a cognitive potential for learning opportunities for both the growth of existing industries and the emergence of new industries. Methodologically, related variety is estimated through an entropy measure that compares employment in five-digit industries within each two-digit classes (as an average) and unrelated variety uses an entropy measure comparing employment across two-digit classes with certain industrial classifications (e.g., NACE, nomenclature statistique des activités économiques dans la Communauté européenne [Statistical classification of economic activities in the European Community]). By extending this idea to whole nations and combining it with other methods, researchers might use the concept to pave the way for the selection of investment priorities for future trade specializations and the diversification of entire countries (FRENKEN, VAN OORT & VERBURG, 2007; SUWALA & MICEK, 2018). [92]

6. Summary and Conclusion

Which spatial concept should be preferred? And what can we learn from the ideas in the realm of "refiguration of spaces"? With regard to the first three concepts of space introduced in this article, HARVEY stated, "Space is neither absolute, relative or relational in itself, but it can become one or all simultaneously depending on the circumstances" (2006, p.125). Economic geographers and regional economists interpret space differently, depending on the research object, purpose, and goal (GARRETSEN & MARTIN, 2010). A consequence of these various perspectives is a series of mediating spatial concepts attempting to valorize various overlaps and interdependencies. The purpose is to consolidate a "trading zone" capable of permitting a holistic view of space. Examples of such cognitive figures were multidimensional spatial concepts (for an overview, BLOTEVOGEL, 2005) are the "societal space" (BLOTEVOGEL, 2005, p.838), the "matrix space" (LÄPPLE, 1991, p.196), the "spatial context" (MEUSBURGER, 2009, p.114), the "ba" (BRINKHOFF et al., 2015, p.13), and the multispatial management framework that was presented here (SUWALA, 2021; SUWALA & OINAS, 2012), which illustrate a symbiosis of social, cultural, and economic aspects. All in all, those ideas emphasize different ways of interpreting space and are therefore in line with the essence of refiguration of spaces that accentuates the heterogeneous constitution of space through a multiple synthesis while portraying novel opportunities to affect spaces, change relations between spaces, and increase the connectivity between spaces (mediatization, polycontexturalization, and translocalization). Examples in this article can be contemplated to suggest the conclusion for research topics like "internationalization of companies" or "world trade interdependencies" that the

increasing complexity calls for a theoretically advanced and reformulated (or more precisely: re-figured) conceptualization of space envisioned by the framework. Moreover, it must be noted that, despite considerable progress in recent research, "common knowledge" in textbooks is lagging behind for various reasons, although it has a long-lasting effect on future generations of scholars. The idea in the long run is to overcome theoretical and methodological boundaries of various schools of thought and to develop a kind of "trading zone within the archipelago" not only between economic geography and regional economics, but also between sociological and economic thought and the corresponding concepts of space in general (BARNES, 2006; BARNES & CHRISTOPHERS, 2018). The great challenge here is not to lose the idiosyncrasy and core of the (sub-)discipline while being integrative. [93]

What are the insights gained for comparative research? The notion of (re-)figuration is a very abstract frame capable of understanding "spatial relations of any order and across various scales in the first stance while perpetuating some rudimentary spatial categories such as locality or place" (KNOBLAUCH & LÖW, 2017, p.6). From an economic geography/regional economics perspective, this is double-edged sword. As with every abstract frame that is considered to bridge disciplines, this cognitive framework runs the risk of a broad methodological spectrum. Where economic geography has a lot to offer within the microfoundation of refigurations of spaces, working predominately with heterodox methods and various concepts of space (e.g., relational or topical points of view for comparison), regional economics allows for progress within the macrofoundation of refigurations of spaces through the increased availability of regional and big data or advanced quantitative methods (e.g., manifold indices capturing the "refiguration"). The insights that I have highlighted here may enrich earlier debates in this journal on both mixed methods for management and innovation research (MEISSNER & SPRENGER, 2010; WOLF et al., 2010) or urban studies (STREULE, 2014). Furthermore, economic geography and regional economics can gain from insights made in this journal about relational (TIETEL, 2000) or topical methods (NÆSS, 2016). [94]

Bringing both views together by overcoming the regional economist's dilemma: "to an economist, real life is a special case" (AMIN & THRIFT, 2000, p.4) and the partial approaches in economic geography "not seeing the forest for the trees" could really add to a holistic understanding of space in times where the *constitution of space* is becoming increasingly heterogeneous and *spatial synthesis* is multiplying through novel opportunities to affect spaces, change relations between spaces, and increase the connectivity between spaces—the essential idea behind the refiguration of spaces. [95]

Acknowledgments

I am thankful to Zachary MÜHLENWEG who did the language-editing, Vanessa ULOTH who did copy-editing and Tom WEBER who sketched some figures for this article.
References

Agnew, John (1993). Representing space: Space, scale and culture in social science. In James S. Duncan & David Ley (Eds.), *Place/culture/representation* (pp.251-271). New York, NY: Routledge.

Albers, Hans-Hermann & Suwala, Lech (2021). Place leadership and corporate spatial responsibilities. In Markku Sotarauta & Andrew Beer (Eds.), *Handbook on city and regional leadership* (pp.108-130) Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Alonso, William (1960). A theory of the urban land market. *Papers in Regional Science*, 6(1), 149-157.

Amin, Ash (1998). Globalization and regional development: a relational perspective. *Competition and Change*, 3(1-2), 145-166.

Amin, Ash & Thrift, Nigel (2000). What kind of economic theory for what kind of economic geography?. *Antipode*, *32*(1), 4-9.

Anselin, Luc (1988). Spatial econometrics: Methods and models. Dordrecht: Springer.

A.T. Kearney & Foreign Policy (Eds.) (2002). Globalization index. Washington DC: Carnegie.

Aydalot, Philippe (Ed.) (1986). *Milieux innovateurs en Europe* [Innovative milieus in Europe]. Paris: GREMI.

Balassa, Béla (1961). The theory of economic integration. Homewood, IL: Richard D. Irwin.

Baldwin, Richard & Okubo, Toshihiro (2006). Heterogeneous firms, agglomeration and economic geography: Spatial selection and sorting. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 6(3), 323-346.

Barnes, Trevor (2001). Retheorizing economic geography: From the quantitative revolution to the "cultural turn". *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, *91*(3), 546-565.

Barnes, Trevor (2002). Performing economic geography: Two men, two books, and a cast of thousands. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 34(3), 487-512.

Barnes, Trevor (2006). Lost in translation: Towards an economic geography as trading zone. In Christian Berndt & Johannes Glückler (Eds.), *Denkanstöße zu einer anderen Geographie der Ökonomie* (pp.23-44). Bielefeld: transcript.

Barnes, Trevor & Christophers, Brett (2018). *Economic geography: A critical introduction*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

Basco, Rodrigo (2017). Epilogue: Multiple embeddedness contexts for entrepreneurship. In Marcela Ramírez-Pasillas, Ethel Brundin & Magdalena Markowska (Eds.), *Contextualizing entrepreneurship in developing and emerging economies* (pp.329-336). London: Edward Elgar.

Basco, Rodrigo & Suwala, Lech (2020). Spatial familiness—A bridge between family business and economic geography. In Andrea Calabrò (Ed.), *A research agenda for family business. A way ahead for the field* (pp.185-202). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Basco, Rodrigo & Suwala, Lech (2021). Spatial familiness and family spatialities—Searching for fertile ground between family business and regional studies. In Rodrigo Basco, Roger Stough & Lech Suwala (Eds.), *Family business and regional development* (pp.7-32). London: Routledge, <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429058097-3</u> [Accessed: April 8, 2021].

Basco, Rodrigo; Stough, Roger & Suwala, Lech (Eds.) (2021). *Family business and regional development*. London: Routledge, https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429058097 [Accessed: April 7, 2021].

Bathelt, Harald & Glückler, Johannes (2002). *Wirtschaftsgeographie: Ökonomische Beziehungen in räumlicher Perspektive*. Stuttgart: UTB.

Bathelt, Harald & Glückler, Johannes (2003). Toward a relational economic geography. *Journal of Economic Geography*, 3(2), 117-144.

Bathelt, Harald & Glückler, Johannes (2005). Resources in economic geography: From substantive concepts towards a relational perspective. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 37(9), 1545-1563.

Bathelt, Harald & Glückler, Johannes (2011). *The relational economy: Geographies of knowing and learning*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bathelt, Harald & Glückler, Johannes (2018a). *Wirtschaftsgeographie: Ökonomische Beziehungen in räumlicher Perspektive* (4th ed.). Stuttgart: UTB.

Bathelt, Harald & Glückler, Johannes (2018b). Relational research design in economic geography. In Gordon L. Clark, Maryann P. Feldman, Meric S. Gertler & Dariusz Wójcik (Eds.), *The new Oxford handbook of economic geography* (pp.179-195). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Baur, Nina; Mennell, Stephen & Million, Angela (2021). The refiguration of spaces and methodological challenges of cross-cultural comparison. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *22*(2), Art. 25, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.2.3755</u> [Accessed: July 28, 2021].

Beaverstock, Jonathan P. (2017). The spatial mobility of corporate knowledge: Expatriation, global talent and the world city. In Heike Jons, Peter Meusburger & Michael Heffernan (Eds.), *Mobilities of knowledge* (pp.227-246). Dordrecht: Springer.

Beaverstock, Jonathan P.; Smith, Richard G. & Taylor, Peter J. (2000). World-city network: A new metageography?. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, *90*(1), 123-134.

Becattini, Giacomo (1979). Dal settore industriale al distretto industriale. Alcune considerazioni sull'unità di indagine dell'economia industriale [From the industrial sector to the industrial district. Some considerations on the unit of investigation with industrial economy]. *Rivista di Economia e Politica Industriale*, *5*(1), 7-21.

Beck, Ulrich (2000 [1997]). What is globalization?. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Bellgardt, Friederike; Suwala, Lech & Kulke, Elmar (forthcoming). Gründungsaktivitäten und Standortwahl von Unternehmen der Re-Commerce-Branche in Deutschland. Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie.

Belussi, Fiorenza & Caldari, Katia (2009). At the origin of the industrial district: Alfred Marshall and the Cambridge school. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, *33*(2), 335-355.

Benecke, Gudrun; Branović, Željko & Draude, Anke (2008). Governance und Raum. Theoretischkonzeptionelle Überlegungen zur Verräumlichung von Governance. *SFB-Governance Working Paper Series, Nr. 13*, DFG Sonderforschungsbereich 700, Berlin, Germany, http://edoc.vifapol.de/opus/volltexte/2008/616/pdf/sfbgov_wp13.pdf [Accessed: July 21, 2021].

Benson, Bruce L. & Hartigan, James C. (1983). Tariffs which lower price in the restricting country: An analysis of spatial markets. *Journal of International Economics*, *15*(1-2), 117-133.

Beyers, Jan (2005). Multiple embeddedness and socialization in Europe: The case of council officials. *International Organization*, *59*(4), 899-936

Blotevogel, Hans H. (2005). Raum. In Akademie für Raumentwicklung in der Leibniz-Gemeinschaft (Ed.). *Handwörterbuch der Raumordnung* (4th ed., pp.831-841). Hannover: ARL.

Bohm, David (1980). Wholeness and the implicate order. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Borts, George H. & Stein, Jerome L. (1964). *Economic growth in a free market*. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.

Boschma, Ron (2005). Proximity and innovation: A critical assessment. *Regional Studies*, 39(1), 61-74.

Bourdieu, Pierre (1982 [1979]). *Die feinen Unterschiede: Kritik der gesellschaftlichen Urteilskraft*. Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp.

Braun, Boris & Schulz, Christian (2012). Wirtschaftsgeographie. Stuttgart: UTB.

Brentano, Lujo (1867). Über Johann Heinrich von Thünen's naturgemässen Lohn und Zinsfuß im isolirten Staate. Göttingen: EA Huth.

Brinkhoff, Sascha; Suwala, Lech & Kulke, Elmar (2012). What do you offer? Interlinkages of universities and high-technology companies in science and technology parks in Berlin and Seville. In Roberta Capello, Agnieszka Olechnicka & Grzegorz Gorzelak (Eds.), *Universities—cities—regions* (pp.121-146) London: Routledge.

Brinkhoff, Sascha; Suwala, Lech & Kulke, Elmar (2015). Managing innovation in "localities of learning" in Berlin and Seville. In Grzegorz Micek (Ed.), *Innovation and creativity in emerging economic spaces* (pp.11-31). Farnham: Ashgate.

Bröcker, Johannes & Fritsch, Michael (Eds.) (2012). Ökonomische Geographie. München: Vahlen.

Capello, Roberta (2007). Regional economics. Abingdon: Routledge.

Capello, Roberta (2008). Regional economics in its 1950s: Recent theoretical directions and future challenges. *The Annals of Regional Science, 42*(4), 747-767.

Capello, Roberta (2009). Regional growth and local development theories: Conceptual evolution over fifty years of regional science. *Géographie, Économie, Société, 11*(1), 9-21, <u>https://www.cairn.info/revue-geographie-economie-societe-2009-1-page-9.htm</u> [Accessed: August 1, 2021].

Capello, Roberta (2011). Location, regional growth and local development theories. *Aestimum, 58*, 1-25.

Capello, Roberta (2012). Regional economics: Theoretical achievements and challenges. *Timisoara Journal of Economics*, *5*, 313-335.

Capello, Roberta (2016). Regional economics (2nd ed.). Abingdon: Routledge.

Capello, Roberta & Nijkamp, Peter (Eds.) (2010). *Handbook of regional growth and development theories*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Chapman, Keith & Walker, David F. (1987). *Industrial location: Principles and politics*. Oxford: Blackwell.

Christaller, Walter (1933). Die zentralen Orte in Süddeutschland. Jena: Fischer.

Clark, Gordon L.; Feldman, Maryann P.; Gertler, Meric S. & Wójcik, Dariusz (Eds.) (2018). *The new Oxford handbook of economic geography*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Clark, Terry N.; Lloyd, Richard; Wong, Kenneth K. & Jain, Pushpam (2002). Amenities drive urban growth. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, *24*(5), 493-515.

Coase, Richard (1937). The nature of the firm. Economica, 4, 386-405.

Coe, Neil M.; Kelly, Philip F. & Yeung, Henry W.C. (2007). *Economic geography: A contemporary introduction*. Oxford: Blackwell.

Coe, Neil M.; Kelly, Philip F. & Yeung, Henry W.C. (2019). *Economic geography: A contemporary introduction* (3rd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.

Combes, Pierre P.; Mayer, Thierry & Thisse, Jacques F. (2008). *Economic geography: The integration of regions and nations*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Couclelis, Helen (1992). Location, place, region and space. In Ron F. Abler, Melvin G. Marcus & Judy M. Olson (Eds.), *Geography's inner worlds* (pp.215-233). New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

Couldry, Nick & Hepp, Andreas (2016). The mediated construction of reality. London: Polity Press.

Daniels, Stephen & Cosgrove, Denis (1988). Introduction: Iconography and landscape. In Denis Cosgrove & Steven Daniels (Eds.), *The iconography of landscape: Essays on the symbolic representation, design, and use of past landscapes* (pp.1-10). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Deleuze, Gilles (1971). Anti Oedipe et Mille Plateaux [Anti-Oedipus and a thousand plateaus]. *Cours Vincennes – St. Denis. Cours du 16/11/1971* [Course, September 16, 1971], <u>https://www.webdeleuze.com/textes/115</u> [Accessed: August 1, 2021].

Dicken, Peter (1971). Some aspects of the decision-making behavior of business organizations. *Economic Geography*, *47*(3), 426-437.

Dicken, Peter (1976). The multiplant business enterprise and geographical space: Some issues in the study of external control and regional development. *Regional Studies*, *10*(4), 401-412.

Dicken, Peter & Malmberg, Anders (2001). Firms in territories: A relational perspective. *Economic Geography*, 77(4), 345-363.

Dicken, Peter; Kelly, Philip F.; Olds, Kris & Yeung, Henry (2001). Chains and networks, territories and scales: Towards a relational framework for analysing the global economy. *Global Networks*, 1(2), 89-112.

Dreher, Axel (2006). Does globalization affect growth? Evidence from a new index of globalization, *Applied Economics*, 38(1) 1091-1110.

Dunning, John H. (1980). Toward an eclectic theory of international production: Some empirical tests. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *11*(1), 9-31.

Eckey, Hans F. (2008). Regionalökonomie. Wiesbaden: Gabler.

Einstein, Albert (1980). Vorwort. In Max Jammer (Ed.), *Das Problem des Raumes – Die Entwicklung der Raumtheorien* (2nd ed., pp.XII-XVII). Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.

Farhauer, Oliver & Kröll, Alexandra (2013). *Standorttheorien. Regional- und Stadtökonomik in Theorie und Praxis*. Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.

Farhauer, Oliver & Kröll, Alexandra (2014). *Standorttheorien. Regional- und Stadtökonomik in Theorie und Praxis* (2nd ed.). Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.

Flew, Terry (2010). Toward a cultural economic geography of creative industries and urban development. *The Information Society*, *26*(2), 85-91.

Florida, Richard; Mellander, Charlotta & Rentfrow, Peter J. (2013). The happiness of cities. *Regional Studies*, *47*(4), 613-627.

Florida, Richard; Mellander, Charlotta & Stolarick, Kevin (2011). Beautiful places: The role of perceived aesthetic beauty in community satisfaction. *Regional Studies*, *45*(1), 33-48.

Foucault, Michel (1966). *Les mots et les choses: Une archéologie des sciences humaines* [The order of things—An archaeology of the human sciences]. Paris: Gallimard.

Frenken, Koen; Van Oort, Frank & Verburg, Thijs (2007). Related variety, unrelated variety and regional economic growth. *Regional Studies*, *41*(5), 685-697.

Fritsch, Michael; Obschonka, Martin & Wyrwich, Michael (2019). Historical roots of entrepreneurship-facilitating culture and innovation activity: An analysis for German regions. *Regional Studies*, *53*(9), 1296-1307.

Fujita, Masahisa; Krugman, Paul & Venables, Anthony J. (1999). *The spatial economy: Cities, regions, and international trade*. Cambridge, MA: MIT press.

Garretsen, Harry & Martin, Ron (2010). Rethinking (new) economic geography models: Taking geography and history more seriously. *Spatial Economic Analysis*, *5*(2), 127-160.

Gaubert, Celine (2018). Firm sorting and agglomeration. *American Economic Review, 108*(11), 3117-3153.

Gertler, Meric (1995). "Being there": Proximity, organization, and culture in the development and adoption of advanced manufacturing technologies. *Economic Geography*, 71(1), 1-26.

Giddens, Anthony (1984). *The constitutions of society: Outline of a theory of structuration*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Giddens, Anthony (1991). The consequences of modernity. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Gieryn, Thomas (2000). A space for place in sociology. Annual Review of Sociology, 26, 463-496.

Glaeser, Edward L. (2000). The future of urban research: Nonmarket interactions. *Brookings-Wharton Papers on Urban Affairs*, 101-149,

https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/glaeser/files/25067375.pdf [Accessed: August 1, 2021].

Glaeser, Edward L. (2004). Psychology and the market. *American Economic Review*, 94(2), 408-413.

Glaeser, Edward L.; Kolko, Jed & Saiz, Albert (2001). Consumer city. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *1*(1), 27-50.

Glückler, Johannes (2004). *Reputationsnetze. Zur Internationalisierung von Unternehmensberatern. Eine relationale Theorie*. Bielefeld: transcript.

Glückler, Johannes & Panitz, Robert (2016). Relational upgrading in global value networks. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *16*(6), 1161-1185.

Golledge, Reginald G. & Timmermans, Harry (1990). Applications of behavioural research on spatial problems I: Cognition. *Progress in Human Geography*, *14*(1), 57-99.

Grabher, Gernot (1993). The weakness of strong ties; the lock-in of regional development in the Ruhr area. In Gernot Grabher (Ed.), *The embedded firm. On the socioeconomics of industrial networks* (pp.255-277). London: Routledge.

Grabher, Gernot (2004). Learning in projects, remembering in networks? Communality, sociality, and connectivity in project ecologies. *European Urban and Regional Studies*, *11*(2), 103-123.

Grabher, Gernot; Melchior, Alice; Schiemer, Benjamin; Schüßler, Elke & Sydow, Jörg (2018). From being there to being aware: Confronting geographical and sociological imaginations of copresence. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *50*(1), 245-255.

Granovetter, Mark (1985). Economic action and economic structure: The problem of embeddedness. *American Journal of Sociology*, *91*(3), 481-510.

Graumann, Carl F. (2002). The phenomenological approach to people-environment studies. In Robert B. Bechtel & Arza Churchman (Eds.), *Handbook of environmental psychology* (pp.95-113). New York, NY: Wiley.

Greffe, Xaver (2010). Urban cultural landscapes: An economic approach. *Working Paper Nr.* 01/2010, University of Turin, Italy, <u>https://www.css-ebla.it/wp-content/uploads/1_WP_Ebla_CSS-2.pdf</u> [Accessed: July 31, 2021].

Günzel, Stefan (2009). Raumwissenschaften. Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp.

Gyourko, Joseph & Tracy, Joseph (1991). The structure of local public finance and the quality of life. *Journal of Political Economy*, *99*(4), 774-806.

Haas, Hans Dieter & Neumair, Simon (2007). *Wirtschaftsgeographie*. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.

Håkanson, Lars (1979). Towards a theory of location and corporate growth. In Frederick E. Ian Hamilton & Godfrey J.R. Linge (Eds.), *Spatial analysis, industry and the industrial environment: Industrial systems* (pp.115-138). Chichester: Wiley.

Hard, Gerhard (2003). *Dimensionen geographischen Denkens. Aufsätze zur Theorie der Geographie, Bd.* 2. Göttingen: V&R Unipress.

Harvey, David (1973). Social justice and spatial systems. London: Edward Arnold.

Harvey, David (2006). Spaces of global capitalism: Towards a theory of uneven geographical development. London: Verso.

Hassink, Robert (2010). Locked in decline? On the role of regional lock-ins in old industrial areas. In Ron Boschma & Ron Martin (Eds), *The handbook of evolutionary economic geography* (pp.450-468). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.

Hassink, Robert & Gong, Huiwen (2017). Sketching the contours of an integrative paradigm of economic geography. *Papers in Innovation Studies 2017/12*, Centre for Innovation, Research and Competence in the Learning Economy, Lund University, Sweden, http://wp.circle.lu.se/upload/CIRCLE/workingpapers/201712_hassink_et_al.pdf [Accessed: August 1, 2021].

Hayter, Roger (1997). The dynamics of industrial location: The factory, the firm and the production system. Chichester: Wiley.

Hayter, Roger & Patchell, Jerry (2011). *Economic geography: An institutional approach*. Don Mills: Oxford University Press.

Hayter, Roger & Watts, Doug H. (1983). The geography of enterprise: A reappraisal. *Progress in Geography*, 7(2), 157-181.

Heckscher, Eli (1919). Utrikeshandelns verkan pa inkomstfordelningen [*Impact of foreign trade on income distribution*]. *Ekonomisk Tidskrift*, *XXI*, 1-3.

Helbrecht, Ilse (2005). Geographisches Kapital – das Fundament der kreativen Metropolis. In Hans-Joachim Kujath (Ed.), *Knoten im Netz. Zur neuen Rolle der Metropolregionen in der Dienstleistungswirtschaft und Wissensökonomie* (pp.121-155). Münster: LIT.

Henry, Nick & Pinch, Stephen (2001). Neo-Marshallian nodes, institutional thickness, and Britain's "Motor Sport Valley": Thick or thin?. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *33*(7), 1169-1183.

Hess, Martin (2004). "Spatial" relationships? Towards a reconceptualization of embeddedness. *Progress in Human Geography*, *28*(2), 165-186.

Hirschmann, Albert O. (1958). The strategy of development. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.

Hotelling, Harold (1929). Stability in competition. Economic Journal, 39, 41-57.

Huggins, Robert & Thompson, Piers (2019). The behavioural foundations of urban and regional development: Culture, psychology and agency. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *19*(1), 121-146.

Ibert, Oliver (2010). Relational distance: sociocultural and time—spatial tensions in innovation practices. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *42*(1), 187-204.

Isard, Walther (1956). Location and space-economy. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

James, Al; Martin, Ron & Sunley, Peter (2007). The rise of cultural economic geography. In Ron L. Martin & Peter Sunley (Eds.), *Critical concepts in economic geography: Volume IV, cultural economy* (pp.3-18). London: Routledge.

Jansen, Dorothea (1999). *Einführung in die Netzwerkanalyse. Grundlagen, Methoden, Anwendungen*. Opladen: Leske + Budrich.

Johanson, Jan & Vahlne, Jan E. (1977). The internationalization process of the firm—a model of knowledge development and increasing foreign market commitments. *Journal of International Business Studies*, *8*(1), 23-32.

Jones, Andrew (2018). Geographies of production III: Economic geographies of management and international business. *Progress in Human Geography*, *42*(2), 275-285.

Kaldor, Nicholas (1970). Further essays in economics. London: Holmes and Meier Publishers.

Kloosterman, Robert & Rath, Jan (2018). Mixed embeddedness revisited: A conclusion to the symposium. *Sociologica*, *12*(2), 103-114.

Kloosterman, Robert; Van Der Leun, Joanne & Rath, Jan (1999). Mixed embeddedness: (In) formal economic activities and immigrant businesses in the Netherlands. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *23*(2), 252-266.

Knoben, Joris & Oerlemans, Leon (2006). Proximity and inter-organizational collaboration: A literature review. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 8(2), 71-89.

Knoblauch, Hubert & Löw, Martina (2017). On the spatial refiguration of the social world. Sociologica, 11(2), 1-27, <u>https://www.rivisteweb.it/doi/10.2383/88197</u> [Accessed: July 30, 2021].

König, Jörg (2017). The EU index of integration effort. In Philippe De Lombaerde & Edgar Saucedo Acosta (Eds.), *Indicator-based monitoring of regional economic integration* (pp.73-94). Cham: Springer.

König, Jörg & Ohr, Renate (2012). Messung ökonomischer Integration in der Europäischen Union – Entwicklung eines EU-Integrationsindexes. *Cege-Diskussionspapier 135*, Center for European, Governance and Economic Development Research (cege), University of Göttingen, Germany, <u>https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/70222/1/690201710.pdf</u> [Accessed: July 21, 2021].

König, Jörg & Ohr, Renate (2013). Different efforts in European economic integration. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, *51*, 1074-1090.

Krätke, Stefan (1995). *Stadt-Raum-Ökonomie: Einführung in aktuelle Problemfelder der Stadtökonomie und Wirtschaftsgeographie*. Basel: Birkhäuser.

Krätke, Stefan (2002). Netzwerkanalyse von Produktionsclustern. Das Beispiel der Filmwirtschaft in Potsdam, Babelsberg. *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie*, *46*(2), 107-123.

Kravis, Irving B. (1956). "Availability" and other influences on the commodity composition of trade. *Journal of Political Economy*, *64*(2), 143-155.

Krugman, Paul (1991). Geography and trade. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Krugman, Paul & Obstfeld, Maurice (2000 [1987]). *International economics: Theory and policy (6th ed.)*. London: Pearson.

Kuebart, Andreas & Ibert, Oliver (2019). Beyond territorial conceptions of entrepreneurial ecosystems: The dynamic spatiality of knowledge brokering in seed accelerators. *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie*, *63*(2-4), 118-133.

Kujath, Hans Joachim & Stein, Axel (2009). Rekonfigurierung des Raumes in der Wissensgesellschaft. *Raumforschung und Raumordnung*, *68*(5-6), 369-382.

Kulke, Elmar (2004). Wirtschaftsgeographie. Paderborn: Schöningh.

Kulke, Elmar (2017). Wirtschaftsgeographie (6th ed.). Paderborn: Schöningh.

Kulke, Elmar & Suwala, Lech (2015). Internationalisation of grocery retailers in emerging markets general considerations and economic impacts. *Working Paper 5/2015*, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Germany.

Kulke, Elmar & Suwala, Lech (2016). Internationalisation of grocery retailing in the Global South: General conditions, formats and spatial expansion patterns of selected MNEs. *Die Erde – Journal of the Geographical Society of Berlin*, 147(3), 187-200, <u>https://doi.org/10.12854/erde-147-14</u> [Accessed: July 21, 2021].

Läpple, Dieter (1991). Essay über den Raum. In Hartmut Häußermann (Ed.), *Stadt und Raum: Soziologische Analysen* (pp.157-207). Pfaffenweiler: Centaurus.

Lange, Bastian; Power, Dominic & Suwala, Lech (2014). Geographies of field-configuring events. *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie*, *58*(4) 187-201, <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/zfw.2014.0013</u> [Accessed: July 29, 2021]. Latka, Thomas (2003). Topisches Sozialsystem. Heidelberg: Carl-Auer.

Latour, Bruno (1996). On actor-network theory: A few clarifications. Soziale Welt, 47(4) 369-381.

Launhardt, Wilhelm (1882). Die Bestimmung des zweckmäßigsten Standortes einer gewerblichen Anlage. Zeitschrift des Vereins Deutscher Ingenieure, 26, 106-115.

Lautensach, Herrmann (1952). Der geographische Formenwandel. Studien zur Landschaftssystematik. Bonn: Dümmler.

Le Monde diplomatique (Ed.) (2015). Atlas der Globalisierung. Paris: taz.

LeSage, James & Pace, Kelley R. (2009). *Introduction to spatial econometrics*. Boca Raton: Chapman and Hall/CRC.

Leyshon, Andrew; Lee, Roger; McDowell, Linda & Sunley, Peter (Eds.) (2011). *The Sage handbook of economic geography*. London: Sage.

Lipsey, Richard G. (1960). The theory of customs unions: A general survey. *The Economic Journal*, *70*(9), 496-513.

Lloyd, Peter E. & Dicken, Peter (1972). *Location in space: A theoretical approach to economic geography.* London: Harper & Row.

Lösch, August (1940). Die räumliche Ordnung der Wirtschaft. Jena: Fischer.

Löw, Martina (2001). Raumsoziologie. Frankfurt/M.: Suhrkamp.

Lucas, Robert E. (1988). On the mechanics of economic development. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 22(1), 3-42.

Lundvall, Bengt A. (1992). National innovation systems. Pinter: London.

MacKinnon, Danny & Cumbers, Andrew (2007). Introduction to economic geography: Globalization, uneven development and place. Abingdon: Routledge.

Maier, Gunter & Tödtling, Franz (1992). *Regional- und Stadtökonomik: Standorttheorie und Raumstruktur*. Wien: Springer.

Maier, Gunter; Tödtling, Franz & Trippl, Michaela (1996). *Regional- und Stadtökonomik 2: Regionalentwicklung und Regionalpolitik*. Wien: Springer.

Marshall, Alfred (1890). Principles of economics. London: MacMillan.

Marshall, Alfred (1919). Industry and trade. London: Macmillan.

Martin, Ron & Sunley, Peter (1996). Paul Krugman's geographical economics and its implications for regional development theory: A critical assessment. *Economic Geography*, 72(3), 259-292.

Martin, Ron & Sunley, Peter (2008). *Economic geography: Critical concepts in the social sciences*. London: Routledge.

Massey, Doreen (1999). Space-time, "science" and the relationship between physical and human geography. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 24(3), 261-276.

McCann, Phillip (2001). Urban and regional economics. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

McCann, Phillip (2003). *Modern urban and regional economics* (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

McCann, Eugene & Ward, Kevin (2010). Relationality/territoriality: Toward a conceptualization of cities in the world. *Geoforum*, *41*(2), 175-184.

Meissner, Jens & Sprenger, Martin (2010). Mixing methods in innovation research: Studying the process-culture-link in innovation management. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11*(3), Art.13, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1560</u> [Accessed: September 12, 2019].

Mela, Alfredo (2008). The polycentric city and environmental resources. In Giovanni Maciocco (Ed.), *The territorial future of the city. Urban and landscapes perspectives 3* (pp.71-86). Berlin: Springer.

Merkel, Janet & Suwala, Lech (2021). Intermediaries, work and creativity in innovative and creative sectors—The case of Berlin. In Brian J. Hracs, Taylor Brydges, Tina Haisch, Atle Hauge, Johan Jansson & Jenny Sjöholm (Eds), *Culture, creativity and economy: Collaborative practices, value creation and spaces of creativity* (pp.56-69). London: Routledge

Meusburger, Peter (2006). Wissen und Raum – ein subtiles Beziehungsgeflecht. In Klaus Kempter & Peter Meusburger (Eds.), *Bildung und Wissensgesellschaft. Heidelberger Jahrbücher 2005, 49* (pp.269-308). Berlin: Springer.

Meusburger, Peter (2009). Milieus of creativity. The role of places, environments, and spatial contexts. In Peter Meusburger, Joachim Funke & Edgar Wunder (Eds.) *Milieus of creativity. An interdisciplinary approach to spatiality of creativity* (pp.97-153). Dordrecht: Springer.

Moulaert, Frank & Sekia, Farid (2003). Territorial innovation models: A critical survey. *Regional Studies*, 37(3), 289-302.

Müller, Phillipp & Franz, Martin (2019). Transnational labour migration and the offshoring of knowledge-intensive business services within global production networks: The case of a German automotive company in Turkey. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *51*(6), 1350-1369.

Myrdal, Gunnar (1957). Economic theory and underdeveloped regions. London: Duckworth.

Næss, Hans E. (2016). Creating "the field": Glocality, relationality and transformativity. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 17*(3), Art. 15, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fgs-17.3.2600</u> [Accessed: September 10, 2020].

Nakamura, Daisuke (2018) Analysis on firm behavior and individual's utility maximization through regional agglomeration economies. In Moriki Hosoe, Iltae Kim, Masahiro Yabuta & Woohyung Lee (Eds.), *Applied analysis of growth, trade, and public policy* (pp.65-72). Singapore: Springer.

Nijkamp, Peter (1987). Handbook of regional and urban economics. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Nishida, Kitaro (1999 [1926]). *Logik des Ortes, der Anfang der modernen Philosophie in Japan*. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.

Nonaka, Ikujiro (1991). The knowledge-creating company. Harvard Business Review, 69, 96-104.

Nonaka, Ikujiro & Konno, Noboru (1998). The concept of "Ba": Building a foundation for knowledge creation. *California Management Review*, 40(3), 40-54.

North, Douglass C. (1955). Location theory and regional economic growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, 63(3), 243-258.

Ohlin, Bertil (1933). Interregional and international trade. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Oinas, Päivi (1997). On the socio-spatial embeddedness of business firms. *Erdkunde*, *51*(1), 23-32, <u>https://doi.org/10.3112/erdkunde.1997.01.03</u> [Accessed: September 10, 2019].

Okubo, Toshihiro; Picard, Pierre M. & Thisse, Jacques-François (2010). The spatial selection of heterogeneous firms. *Journal of International Economics*, *82*(2), 230-237.

Oldenbourg, Ray (2001). Celebrating the third place. New York, NY: Marlow.

Ottaviano, Gianmarco I. (2010). "New" new economic geography: Firm heterogeneity and agglomeration economies. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *11*(2), 231-240.

Overman, Henry G. (2004). Can we learn anything from economic geography proper?. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *4*(5), 501-516.

Pachura, Piotr (2021). *Trójprzestrzeni. Modelowanie teorii przestrzeni organizacji* [Trispaces. Modelling organisational space theory]. Warsaw: Scholar, <u>https://scholar.com.pl/en/index.php?</u> <u>controller=attachment&id_attachment=750</u> [Accessed: March 28, 2021].

Palme, Gerhard & Musil, Robert (2012). Wirtschaftsgeographie. Braunschweig: Westermann.

Park, Cyn-Young & Claveria, Racquel (2018). Does regional integration matter for inclusive growth? Evidence from the multidimensional regional integration index (October 19, 2018). *Asian Development Bank Economics Working Paper Series No. 559*, http://dx.doi.org/10.22617/WPS189608-2 [Accessed: July 21, 2021].

Parr, John B. (2002). Agglomeration economies: Ambiguities and confusions. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, *34*(4), 717-731.

Peiker, Wolfdietrich (2017). Internationalisierung europäischer Wirtschaftskanzleien: Zur Identifizierung und Erschließung neuer Märkte. Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.

Peiker, Wolfdietrich & Suwala, Lech (2015). Internationalisation of European law firms: Broadening the view on reasons for (relational) market selection. *Paper presented at the Workshop on Location Decisions of MNEs*, Copenhagen Business School, Denmark, May 12, 2015, http://kraksfondbyforskning.dk/wp-content/uploads/2015/05/13_Peiker-Suwala.pdf [Accessed: March 28, 2021].

Peiker, Wolfdietrich; Pflanz, Kai; Kujath, Hans-Joachim & Kulke, Elmar (2012). The heterogeneity of internationalisation in knowledge intensive business services. *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie*, *56*(1-2), 209-225.

Perroux, François (1955). Note sur la notion de pôle de croissance [*Notes on the concept of the growth pole*]. Économique Appliquée, 7, 307-320.

Pfeifer, Gottfried (1928). Über raumwirtschaftliche Begriffe und Vorstellungen und ihre bisherige Anwendung in der Geographie und Wirtschaftswissenschaft. *Geographische Zeitschrift*, 34(6), 321-340.

Pfeufer, Nils & Suwala, Lech (2020). Inwertsetzung von temporären Räumlichkeiten – Standortstrategien von Pop-Up-Restaurants in Berlin. *Raumforschung und Raumordnung*, 78(1), 71-87, <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/rara-2019-0053</u> [Accessed: March 28, 2021].

Pfister, Dieter (2007). *Raum – Gestaltung – Marketing im ganzheitlich-nachhaltigen Management*. Basel: Gesowip.

Pine, Joseph & Gilmore, James (1999). *The experience economy*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.

Pred, Allan R. (1967). *Behavior and location: Foundations for a geographic and dynamic location theory* (Vol.1). Lund: Lund University Press.

Predöhl, Andreas (1928). The theory of location in its relation to general economics. *Journal of Political Economy*, 36(3), 371-390.

Predöhl, Andreas (1934). Staatsraum und Wirtschaftsraum. *Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv*, XXXIX, 1-12.

PricewaterhouseCoopers International (PwC) (2010). *Talent mobility 2020. The next generation of international assignments*. London: PricewaterhouseCoopers International.

Ricardo, David (1817). The principles of political economy and taxation. London: John Murray.

Richards, Greg & Jarman, David (2021). Events as platforms, networks and communities: Introduction. *Event Management*, *25*, 1-7, <u>https://research.tilburguniversity.edu/en/publications/events-as-platforms-networks-and-communities</u> [Accessed: July 20, 2021].

Richardson, Harry W. (1969). *Regional economics. Location theory, urban structure and regional change.* London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson.

Romer, Paul M. (1986). Increasing returns and long-run growth. *Journal of Political Economy*, *94*(5), 1002-1037.

Schätzl, Ludwig (1978). Wirtschaftsgeographie 1: Theorie. Paderborn: Schöningh.

Schamp, Eike W. (2007). Denkstile in der deutschen Wirtschaftsgeographie. Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftsgeographie, 51(1), 238-252.

Schlunze, Rolf D.; Baber, William W. & Agola, Nathaniel (Eds.) (2012). *Spaces of international economy and management: Launching new perspectives on management and geography*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Schöler, Klaus (2005). Raumwirtschaftstheorie. München: Vahlen.

Scott, Allen John (1986). Industrial organization and location: Division of labor, the firm, and spatial process. *Economic Geography*, 62(3), 215-231.

Scott, Allen John (1998). Regions and the world economy: The coming shape of global production, competition and political order. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Scott, Allen John (2001). Capitalism, cities, and the production of symbolic forms. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 26(1), 11-22.

Scott, Allen John (2006). Entrepreneurship, innovation, and industrial development: Geography and the creative field revisited. *Small Business Economics*, *26*(1), 1-24.

Scott, Allen John (2010). Cultural economy and the creative field of the city. *Geografiska Annaler: Series B, Human Geography*, *92*(2), 115-130.

Selcuk, Gökay & Suwala, Lech (2020). Migrant family entrepreneurship—mixed and multiple embeddedness of transgenerational Turkish family entrepreneurs in Berlin. *Journal of Family Business Management*, 10.

Sinclair, Robert (1967). Von Thünen and urban sprawl. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, *57*(1), 72-87.

Smith, Adam (1776). The wealth of nations. New York, NY: The Modern Library.

Staudacher, Christian (2005). *Wirtschaftsgeographie regionaler Systeme*. Wien: WUV-Universitätsverlag.

Stekeler-Weithofer, Pirmin (1992). *Hegels Analytische Philosophie. Die Wissenschaft der Logik als kritische Theorie der Bedeutung*. Paderborn: Mentis.

Störmann, Wiebke (2009). Regionalökonomik. München: De Gruyter.

Storper, Michael (1995). The resurgence of regional economies, ten years later: The region as a nexus of untraded interdependencies. *European Urban and Regional Studies*, *2*(3), 191-221.

Storper, Michael (1996). Regional economies as relational assets. In Roger Lee & Jane Wills (Eds.), *Geographies of economies* (pp.248-258). London: Arnold.

Storper, Michael (1997). *The regional world. Territorial development in a global economy*. New York, NY: Guilford.

Strauss, Kendra (2008). Re-engaging with rationality in economic geography: Behavioural approaches and the importance of context in decision-making. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *8*(2), 137-156.

Streule, Monika (2014). The trend towards transdisciplinarity: A critical evaluation of an ambivalent practice in qualitative urban studies. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *15*(1), Art. 17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-15.1.1995</u> [Accessed: September 10, 2019].

Suwala, Lech (2006). Lokale Netzwerke und Cluster in der us-amerikanischen Film- und Fernsehindustrie in Hollywood (Los Angeles County). Berlin: Berlin Humboldt-Universität.

Suwala, Lech (2007). Ist die VR China eine ökonomische Bedrohung oder ein ökonomischer Partner für die USA? Eine handelspolitische Analyse unter dem Aspekt der internationalen Wettbewerbsfähigkeit. Berlin: Freie Universität Berlin, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/refubium-30574</u>. [Accessed: June 5, 2021].

Suwala, Lech (2010). Regionale Arbeitsmärkte. In Elmar Kulke (Ed.), *Wirtschaftsgeographie Deutschlands* (2nd ed., pp.43-70). Heidelberg: Spektrum.

Suwala, Lech (2014). Kreativität, Kultur und Raum: ein wirtschaftsgeographischer Beitrag am Beispiel des kulturellen Kreativitätsprozesses. Wiesbaden: Springer VS.

Suwala, Lech (2018). Between location, persistence and relocation—historical and spatial trajectories of the Polish aviation industry. In Pawel Capik & Magdalena Dej (Eds.), *Relocation of economic activity—local, regional, and global dimensions* (pp.15-31). Cham: Springer.

Suwala, Lech (2021). *Management geography – Standortentscheidungen, Netzwerke und Raumbilder nordamerikanischer und japanischer Familienunternehmen.* Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.

Suwala, Lech & Albers, Hans-Hermann (2020). Corporate spatial responsibility and sustainable development goals. In Walter Leal Filho, Anabela Marisa Azul, Luciana Brandli, Amanda Lange Salvia & Tony Wall (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of the UN sustainable development goals. Decent work and economic growth* (pp.141-153). Cham: Springer.

Suwala, Lech & Kulke, Elmar (2017). Between embeddedness and otherness—Internationalisation of grocery retailers in emerging markets. In Martina Fuchs, Sebastian Henn, Martin Franz & Ram Mudambi (Eds.), *Organization and culture in cross-border acquisitions* (pp.146-157). London: Routledge.

Suwala, Lech & Micek, Grzegorz (2018). Beyond clusters? Field-configuration and regional platforming—The Aviation Valley initiative in the Polish Podkarpackie region. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society*, *11*(2), 353-372.

Suwala, Lech & Oinas, Päivi (2012). Management geography: A conceptual framework. *Paper presented at the International Geographical Congress (IGC)*, Cologne, Germany, August 26-30, 2012, <u>http://www.siemrg.org/images/PDF/4-Oinas-Suwala.pdf</u> [Accessed: September 10, 2018].

Suwala, Lech & Schlunze, Rolf D. (2019). The stony path of management geography. *SIEM Bulletin, Spaces of International Economy and Management*, *1*(1), 1-5, <u>http://www.siemrg.org/PDF/Siem-Bulletin-No1-Suwala-Schlunze-1201.pdf</u> [Accessed: July 20, 2021]. Taylor, Michael J. (1975). Organizational growth, spatial interaction and location decision-making. *Regional Studies*, *9*(4), 313-323.

Temple, Marion (1994). *Regional economics*. Basingstoke: Macmillan International Higher Education.

Thrift, Nigel & Olds, Kris (1996). Refiguring the economic in economic geography. *Progress in Human Geography*, *20*(3), 311-337.

Tietel, Erhard (2000). The interview as a relational space. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *1*(2), Art. 26, <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-1.2.1095</u> [Accessed: August 31, 2020].

Torre, Andre & Rallet, Alain (2005). Proximity and localization. Regional Studies, 39(1), 47-59.

Trip, Jan J. & Romein, Arie (2010). Creative city policy: Bridging the gap with theory. *Paper* presented at the Eighth European Urban and Regional Studies Conference "Repositioning Europe in an Era of Global Transformation", Vienna, Austria, 15-17 September 2010.

Ullman, Edward L. (1954). Amenities as a factor in regional growth. *Geographical Review, 44*(1), 119-132.

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2018). *World investment report 2018: Investment and new industrial policies*, <u>https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/wir2018_en.pdf</u> [Accessed: November 14, 2019].

Viner, Jacob (1950). The customs union issue. New York, NY: Carnegie.

Von Böventer, Erich (1975). Regional growth theory. Urban Studies, 12(1), 1-29.

Von Frieling, Hans-Dieter (2006). Die gesellschaftstheoretischen Grundlagen der relationalen Wirtschaftsgeographie – Soziale Kosmologie und naturalistische Metaphern. *Geographische Zeitschrift*, *93*(2), 82-99.

Von Thünen, Johann Heinrich (1826). *Der isolierte Staat in Beziehung auf Landwirtschaft und Nationalökonomie*. Hamburg: Frederich Perthes.

Waibel, Leo (1928). *Die Sierra Madre de Chiapas*. In Edwin Fels (Ed.), *Verhandlungen und wissenschaftliche Abhandlungen auf dem 22. deutschen Geographentag in Karlsruhe: 7. bis 9. Juni 1927* (pp.87-98). Breslau: Hirt.

Wardenga, Ute (2002). Räume der Geographie – zu Raumbegriffen im Geographieunterricht. *Geographie Heute*, 23(200), 8-11.

Weber, Alfred (1909). Über den Standort der Industrien. Tübingen: Siebeck Mohr.

Weichhart, Peter (1998). "Raum" versus "Räumlichkeit" – ein Plädoyer für eine transaktionistische Weltsicht der Sozialgeographie. In Günter Heinritz & Ilse Helbrecht (Eds.), *Sozialgeographie und Soziologie. Dialog der Disziplinen* (pp.75-88). Passau: LIS.

Werlen, Benno (1987). Gesellschaft, Handlung und Raum. Grundlagen handlungstheoretischer Sozialgeographie. Stuttgart: Steiner.

Williamson, Oliver E. (1975). *Markets and hierarchies: Analysis and anti-trust implications*. New York, NY: Free Press.

Wolf, Patrica; Meissner, Jens; Nolan, Terry; Lemon, Mark; John, René; Baralou, Evangelia & Seemann, Silke (2010). Methods for qualitative management research in the context of social systems thinking. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11*(3), Art. 3, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fgs-11.3.1548</u> [Accessed: August 31, 2020].

Wood, Andrew & Roberts, Susan (2010). *Economic geography: Places, networks and flows*. Abingdon: Routledge.

World Trade Organization (WTO) (1998). *The WTO agreements Series 2: General agreement on tariffs and trade*, <u>https://www.wto.org/english/res_e/booksp_e/agrmntseries2_gatt_e.pdf</u> [Accessed: August 12, 2021].

Yeung, Henry W.C. (1994). Critical reviews of geographical perspectives on business organisations and the organisation of production: Towards a network approach. *Progress in Human Geography*, *18*(4), 460-490.

Yeung, Henry W.C. (2005a). Rethinking relational economic geography. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, *30*(1), 37-51.

Yeung, Henry W.C. (2005b). Organisational space: A new frontier in international business strategy?. *Critical Perspectives on International Business*, *1*(4), 219-240.

Author

Lech SUWALA is a full professor (guest) of urban and regional economics at Technische Universität Berlin, Germany. Prior to that, he held visiting professorships for spatial and for innovation management at Ritsumeikan University, Kyoto, Japan, and Jagellonian University, Cracow, Poland; after serving as a research associate at the Institute of Economic Geography at Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, among other positions. He is a geographer and economist with working experience in both science and industry. Lech SUWALA's expertise includes spatial creativity, innovation and entrepreneurship research, European and regional planning, and theoretical approaches to the conceptualization of space in economic geography and regional economics.

Citation

Contact:

Prof. Dr. Lech Suwala

Technische Universität Berlin Institut für Stadt-und Regionalplanung Fachgebiet für Stadt-und Regionalökonomie Hardenbergstr.40A/Sekr. B4/Raum 208 10623 Berlin, Germany

Tel.: +49-30-314-28088 Fax: +49-30-314-28151

E-mail: <u>l.suwala@isr.tu-berlin.de</u> URL: <u>https://www.econ-isr.tu-</u> berlin.de/menue/ueber_uns/hochschullehrerinne n/prof_dr_lech_suwala/

Suwala, Lech (2021). Concepts of space, refiguration of spaces, and comparative research: Perspectives from economic geography and regional economics [95 paragraphs]. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *22*(3), Art. 11, http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-22.3.3789.